
MAYOR  CITY MANAGER 

Shirley Sessions Dr. Shawn Gillen 

 
CITY COUNCIL CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Barry Brown, Mayor Pro Tem Jan LeViner 

Brian West  

Jay Burke CITY ATTORNEY 
Nancy DeVetter Edward M. Hughes 

Spec Hosti 
Monty Parks  

 CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

August 10, 2023 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Announcements 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda Recognitions and Proclamations 

1. Certificate of Appreciation:  Mark Williams:  Department of Natural Resources 
 
Consideration of the approval of the minutes of the meetings of the Tybee island City Council 

2. Minutes:  City Council Meeting, July 13, 2023 
 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 3 minutes.  Maximum allowable times of 5 
minutes. 

3. Shirley Wright, Forever Tybee:  Community Events 
 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the Agenda other than Public Hearings, 
please come forward.  Please limit your comments to no more than 5 minutes.   
 
Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
Public Hearings 

4. Site Plan Approval:  Requesting site plan approval to operate a business located at 103 
Butler Avenue, Zone C2 

5. Zoning Variance, 1514 Lovell Avenue, 40008-07001, to build a fence two to four feet 
above the eight-foot limit and extend the rear deck to the new fence line, Zone C-1 

 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 

6. Skidaway Institute Dune Monitoring Agreement 
7. Symbioscity:  Consulting Services Agreement 
8. Third Amendment Fort and Van Horne Water Tower Temporary for Verizon Mobile 

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

9. Out-of-State Travel San Diego:  Tiffany Hayes, International Association of Chiefs of 
Police Conference, October 13 - 18, 2023.  Line Item 100-3210-52-3500, $1,760.00 

 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 

10. First and Second Reading:  2023-26,  Sec 2-36 Compensation Change, Mayor and 
Council 

 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 

11. Tracy O'Connell:   

 Thomas Harmon, 43 Van Horne Avenue, STR Permit 
 Joel Fobes Settlement 
 William Moseley Settlement 

12. Barry Brown:   

 Update on Water Bill Credits 
13. Jay Burke:   

 Hotel Water Rate Review 
14. Monty Parks:   

 Forming a working group to explore child care on Tybee Island 
15. Brian West:   

 Additional lighting for Jaycee Park 
 Land Bank 
 Dump Fees 

16. Michelle Owens:   

 Emergency Medical Service Update   
 
Minutes of Boards and Committees 

17. Planning Commission Minutes, July 17, 2023 
 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
 
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
 
Adjournment 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 
*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 

should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 
meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 

prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 

Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

- Page 2 -

http://www.cityoftybee.org/


 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 3 -



File Attachments for Item:

2. Minutes:  City Council Meeting, July 13, 2023

- Page 4 -Item #2.



City Council Minutes, July 13, 2023 
 
Mayor Sessions called the meeting to order at 6:30PM, July 13, 2023.  Those in 
attendance were Brian West, Monty Parks, Nancy DeVetter, Barry Brown, Jay Burke and 
Spec Hosti.  Also attending were Michelle Owens, Acting City Manager; Bubba Hughes, 
City Attorney; Tracy O’Connell, City Attorney, and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.  Dr. 
Gillen was excused. 
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation:  Jan LeViner, Clerk 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  

 Minutes, Second Reading Millage, June 22, 2023 

 Minutes,  Council Meeting, June 22, 2023 

 Award Symbioscity RFP, Review of the Land Development Code 

 Tybee Island Maritime Academy Police Officer MOU 
 
Reports of Staff, Boards, Standing Committees and/or Invited Guest.   
Jan LeViner, City Clerk, approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. LeViner read the Call 

to Election, November 7, 2023.  She outlined qualifying dates and stated Qualifying 

Packets would be available in her office beginning August 1, 2023.  Mayor Sessions 

thanked Ms. LeViner. 

Keith Howington, approached Mayor and Council to give an Update on City Hall 

renovation.  Mr. Howington stated the renovation is still on schedule for completion, 

October 2023.  Mayor Sessions thanked Mr. Howington for his hard work not only with 

overseeing the project but also with maintaining the historical integrity of the building. 

Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 3 minutes.  Maximum 
allowable times of 5 minutes. 
Kathryn Williams, Forever Tybee, approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Williams 
encouraged everyone to reach out to the Department of Natural Resources (DNR) in 
support of the Beach Benches and Swings.  Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. Williams 
and encouraged everyone to reach out to DNR as well. 
Julia Pearce approached Mayor and Council to give a presentation on her Pilgrimage 
from Tybee Lazaretto to Ghana:  Door of No Return.  Ms. Pearce thanked 
everyone for their financial support to make this trip happen. 
Dee Matkowski approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Matkowski announced she is 
Declaring to run for City Council.   
Holly Lawe approached Mayor and Council to thank Pete Gulbronson and Keith 
Howington for coordinating the tour of City Hall for the Historic Preservation 
Commission.  They took the time to highlight the many steps that have been taken to 
retain and honor the historical features of the City Hall building.  Mayor Sessions thanked 
Ms. Lawe. 
Dawn Shay approached Mayor and Council to speak in favor of proposed Resolution 
for Local Emergency in Connection with Certain Events that would 
overwhelm the capacity of City Resources.  Mayor Sessions thanked Ms. Shay. 
 

- Page 5 -Item #2.



Spec Hosti made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  Nancy DeVetter seconded.  
Vote was unanimous to approve, 6-0. 
 
Public Hearings 
Special Review:  Sec 3-100 Beach, 708 Butler Avenue, CFK Properties, LLC.  

George Shaw approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Shaw stated this was before Mayor 

and Council last year and was approved.  It has since expired and is before Mayor and 

Council for approval.  This is a request for a crossover for the future neighborhood at 708 

Butler Avenue.  Planning Commission voted 4-3 to approve and Staff recommended 

approval.  Ms. DeVetter asked for clarification as why it is back before Mayor and Council.  

Mr. Shaw stated the builder was not able to start construction when it was originally 

approved.  Spec Hosti made a motion to approve.  Jay Burke seconded.  Those voting 

in favor were Brian West, Monty Parks, Barry Brown, Jay Burke and Spec Hosti.  Voting 

against was Nancy DeVetter.  Motion to approve, 5-1. 

Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 
Resolution:  Declare Local Emergency in Connection with Certain Events 
that would overwhelm the capacity of City Resources. 
 Mayor Sessions gave a quick review of the events that led to this Resolution.  This 
included reaching out to the State Legislators to request their support for the Resolution.  
The State Attorney and our legal team will work together to draft State Legislation. Ms. 
DeVetter stated she has concerns regarding the proposal being too broad and we are not 
asking for something specific that Tybee needs.  She shared her concerns with the City 
having overreach regarding a proposed law and would ask for a meeting with the Chief is 
to ask for the specific changes.  Mayor Sessions asked if the meetings has taken place.  Ms. 
DeVetter stated no, as there is not an urgency.  Mayor Sessions disagreed.  Mr. Parks 
asked if there is a change with the Resolution in the packet before them tonight.  Mr. 
Hughes stated no, it is the same as previously presented.  Mayor pro tem Brown 
recommended approval and moving forward.  Dr. West shared his concerns but 
recommended the attorneys work with the State for a final Resolution.  Mr. Hughes 
explained the process going forward and stated it is important that we be authorized to 
have communication with legislative counsel as nothing happens without their input and 
preparation.  Spec Hosti made a motion to approve.  Barry Brown seconded.  Those 
voting in favor were Brian West, Monty Parks, Barry Brown, Jay Burke and Spec Hosti.  
Voting against was Nancy DeVetter.  Motion to approve, 5-1. 
 
First Reading:  Sec 2-36 Compensation Change - Mayor and Council   FOR 
DISCUSSION AND INTRODUCTION ONLY.  Mr. Hosti stated he brought this 
before Mayor and Council and is now formally bringing before them for action.  He 
continued, with the added responsibilities due to work on the STR’s and Orange Crush 
for example, it has taken Council members away from their livelihood.  Mr. Hosti stated 
if passed, it would not become effective until January 1, 2024.  Mr. Parks recommended 
approval and if the salary compensation increase is passed, there needs to be more 
accountability from each council member.  There was a discussion regarding the 
accountability to include reading the packet and voting and attendance records. Ms. 
O’Connell reminded Mayor and Council a vote is needed to authorize the City Clerk run 
the proper notification in the legal organ. Spec Hosti so moved.  Jay Burke seconded.  
Vote was unanimous.   Spec Hosti made a motion to move forward with First and Second 
reading on August 10, 2023.  Barry Brown seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 
6-0. 
 

- Page 6 -Item #2.



 

Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 
Jay Burke recused  
 
Mr. Hughes stated at the last council meeting, Council passed on second reading the 
ordinance that provides for locations that had secured building permits for single family 
homes with the intention to operate STR at that location,  to submit evidence of the intent 
to the City and to complete and application for a STR.  The one before them tonight is, 
Shields Investment, Application for STR, 916 Miller.  The ordinance that was 
approved leaves the ultimate decision up to Mayor and Council based on the evidence 
staff has developed. Mr. Hughes confirmed that there are several instances such as this 
and they will not go through Planning Commission for consideration but directly to Mayor 
and Council.  Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  Spec Hosti seconded.  Those 
voting in favor were Brian West, Monty Parks and Spec Hosti.  Voting against was Nancy 
DeVetter and Barry Brown.  Motion to approve 3-2. 
 
Jay Burke returned to the meeting 

 
Dr. West stated Staff is creating a Resolution regarding Land Bank for a future date 
and he would like to request a meeting with the Acting City Manager, Michelle Owens, 
and the representative from the Land Bank in Savannah.  He then invited council 
members to attend a future meeting that could be a workshop. 
Dr. West asked Mayor and Council if they have any interest in moving forward with 
Removal of Dump Fees for Residents.  Mayor pro tem Brown stated the previous 
hurdles were to determine who residents were and who were 
visitors/builders/handyman.  Mr. Parks stated this was discussed several years ago 
during the budget cycle and he would like to see recommendations from Staff and he 
would like to see the budgetary impact.  Ms. DeVetter is in agreement with giving back 
to the residents and would like to explore other options.  Mayor Sessions asked Council 
to send their questions to Staff to see what is doable and realistic.   

 
Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn to executive session to discuss real estate, 
personnel and litigation.  Nancy DeVetter seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 
6-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to return to regular session.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote 
was unanimous to approve 6-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote was unanimous 
to approve, 6-0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 9:50PM 
 
 
_________________________ 
Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 

- Page 7 -Item #2.



File Attachments for Item:

4. Site Plan Approval:  Requesting site plan approval to operate a business located at 103 Butler

Avenue, Zone C2

- Page 8 -Item #4.



- Page 9 -Item #4.



- Page 10 -Item #4.



- Page 11 -Item #4.



- Page 12 -Item #4.



- Page 13 -Item #4.



- Page 14 -Item #4.



- Page 15 -Item #4.



- Page 16 -Item #4.



- Page 17 -Item #4.



- Page 18 -Item #4.



- Page 19 -Item #4.



- Page 20 -Item #4.



- Page 21 -Item #4.



- Page 22 -Item #4.



- Page 23 -Item #4.



- Page 24 -Item #4.



- Page 25 -Item #4.



- Page 26 -Item #4.



- Page 27 -Item #4.



- Page 28 -Item #4.



- Page 29 -Item #4.



- Page 30 -Item #4.



- Page 31 -Item #4.



- Page 32 -Item #4.



- Page 33 -Item #4.



- Page 34 -Item #4.



File Attachments for Item:

5. Zoning Variance, 1514 Lovell Avenue, 40008-07001, to build a fence two to four feet above 

the eight-foot limit and extend the rear deck to the new fence line, Zone C-1

- Page 35 -Item #5.



- Page 36 -Item #5.



- Page 37 -Item #5.



- Page 38 -Item #5.



- Page 39 -Item #5.



- Page 40 -Item #5.



- Page 41 -Item #5.



- Page 42 -Item #5.



- Page 43 -Item #5.



- Page 44 -Item #5.



- Page 45 -Item #5.



- Page 46 -Item #5.



- Page 47 -Item #5.



- Page 48 -Item #5.



- Page 49 -Item #5.



- Page 50 -Item #5.



- Page 51 -Item #5.



File Attachments for Item:

6. Skidaway Institute Dune Monitoring Agreement

- Page 52 -Item #6.



 

 

SPONSORED RESEARCH AGREEMENT 

This Sponsored Research Agreement (“Agreement”) is between the University of Georgia Research 
Foundation, Inc., a Georgia non-profit corporation with principal offices in Athens, Georgia (“UGARF”), 
and City of Tybee Island, a Georgia municipality organized under the laws of Georgia with a principal 
place of business located at PO Box 2749, Tybee Island, GA 31328 (“Sponsor”). UGARF and Sponsor each 
may be referred to individually as a “Party” and/or collectively as the “Parties.”  

UGARF and Sponsor desire to enter into an agreement whereby Sponsor will fund research to be 
performed at the University of Georgia (“UGA”). UGA is governed by the Board of Regents of the 
University System of Georgia (“Regents”), and Regents have authorized UGARF to contract for research 
projects that will be subcontracted to, and performed by, UGA. In addition, UGARF is Regents’ assignee 
of certain intellectual property created by UGA employees in the course of their employment.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual obligations stated herein, and for other value 
consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:  

1. Research Project. UGARF will complete, or have completed, the research project titled “Monitoring 
Man-made Dunes and Beaches to Predict Future Change and Maintenance Needs: Drone Lidar 
Technology for Decision-making on Tybee Island, GA” and further described in Appendix A (“Project”) by 
subcontracting performance of the Project to UGA. UGARF, through its subcontractor UGA, will use 
reasonable efforts to perform the Project according to the standards customary among U.S. research 
universities.  

2. Principal Investigator. The “Principal Investigator” is responsible for directing performance of the 
Project at UGA. Dr. Clark Alexander shall be the Principal Investigator. However, if for any reason Dr. 
Alexander becomes unavailable to complete the Project, then with Sponsor’s prior approval (which 
approval Sponsor shall not unreasonably withhold) UGARF may replace Dr. Alexander with another 
qualified researcher who will then serve as Principal Investigator and direct the Project at UGA.  

3. Cost of Project. This is a FIXED PRICE agreement, and Sponsor shall deliver payments to UGARF per 
the budget and payment schedule identified in Appendix B. UGARF may issue invoices to Sponsor that 
coincide with the payment schedule, and in that case Sponsor shall deliver payment to UGARF in the 
amount of each invoice within thirty (30) days of receipt of the invoice, or by the date identified as the 
due date on the invoice, whichever is later. Overdue payments will bear interest at the rate of 12% per 
annum from the date due until paid, and this interest provision survives termination.  

4. Term. This Agreement will begin on July 1, 2023 (“Effective Date”) for twelve months (ending June 30, 
2024) but is subject to two automatic annual renewals (Year 1 Renewal July 1, 2024 – June 30, 2025 and 
Year 2 Renewal July 1, 2025 – June 30, 2026 confirmed by a Letter of Renewal issued by the Sponsor 
prior to the end of the existing, or early termination of this Agreement by mutual agreement of the 
Parties or pursuant to Section 15 herein (“Term”).   

5. Confidential Information. “Confidential Information” means all Project Intellectual Property and 
descriptions thereof shared by one Party (the “Provider”) to the other (“the Recipient”), and also means 
all information embodied in written, electronic, biological, chemical, or any other tangible form, which is 
disclosed or provided under this Agreement by one Party (the “Provider”) to the other Party (the 
“Recipient”) and is marked confidential at time of disclosure. “Confidential Information” also includes all 

- Page 53 -Item #6.



 

 

orally disclosed information where Provider declares such information to be confidential at the time of 
initial disclosure and confirms such declaration by written notice to the Recipient within thirty (30) days 
of initial disclosure.  

5.1. Applicability to Subcontractor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge and 
agree that UGA, as UGARF’s permitted subcontractor hereunder, may be the Provider of 
Confidential Information to Sponsor and may also be the Recipient of Confidential Information 
from Sponsor. In any subcontract for the performance of this Agreement from UGARF to UGA, 
UGARF shall require UGA to adhere to the obligations imposed upon UGARF herein with respect 
to Sponsor’s Confidential Information. Sponsor agrees to protect Confidential Information 
received from UGA under the terms provided herein for the protection of Confidential 
Information disclosed to Sponsor by UGARF.  

5.2. Limited Exchange. The Parties agree they will only exchange Confidential Information for 
performance of the Project or otherwise as necessary to perform this Agreement.  

5.3. Obligation of Confidentiality and Limited Use. Except to the extent required by law, during 
the Term and for a period of three (3) years thereafter, the Recipient of Provider’s Confidential 
Information (a) shall not disclose such Confidential Information to any third party without prior 
written consent of the Provider; and (b) shall only use Provider’s Confidential Information as 
necessary to perform the Project and/or this Agreement.  

5.4. Exceptions. The Recipient shall have no obligations under Paragraph 5.3 with respect to any 
portion of the Provider’s Confidential Information that:  

a. is or becomes available to the public by through no fault of the Recipient;  

b. is obtained by the Recipient from a third party who had the legal right to 
disclose it to the Recipient;  

c. the Recipient already possesses, or independently develops without reference 
to the Confidential Information provided by Provider, as evidenced by written 
records; and/or  

d. is required to be disclosed by law.  

 

6. Equipment. Except as may be expressly set out herein, Sponsor shall have no ownership, license, or 
any other right, title, or interest in or to equipment, supplies, and/or other tangible or intangible 
supplies and other materials purchased or developed under this Agreement with funding from Sponsor 
under this Agreement.  

7. Work Product. UGARF owns all data and results generated by UGARF and/or UGA in performance of 
the Project (“Work Product”); however, Work Product specifically excludes Project Intellectual Property 
(as defined in Section 8 below). Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 17.4, UGARF hereby grants to 
Sponsor, for Sponsor’s internal use only, a non-exclusive, perpetual license to use and reproduce, but 
not transfer to third parties or sell, that Work Product delivered to Sponsor under this Agreement.  

- Page 54 -Item #6.



 

 

8. Ownership of Project Intellectual Property. “Project Intellectual Property” means all forms of 
intellectual property under the laws of any state or country, and all legal rights therein, in and to any 
inventions, patentable discoveries, and/or software, that are first made or reduced to practice in 
performance of the Project.  

8.1 “Sponsor Intellectual Property” means all Project Intellectual Property that is invented 
and/or developed solely by one or more employees of Sponsor. All right and title in and to 
Sponsor Intellectual Property shall be owned by Sponsor and is hereby assigned to Sponsor. 
Sponsor may, in its sole discretion and at its sole expense, seek legal protection for any Sponsor 
Intellectual Property.  

8.2 “UGARF Intellectual Property” means all Project Intellectual Property that is invented and/or 
developed solely by one or more employees or students of Regents at UGA. All right and title in 
and to UGARF Intellectual Property shall by owned solely by UGARF is hereby assigned to 
UGARF.  

8.3 “Joint Intellectual Property” means all Project Intellectual Property that is invented and/or 
developed jointly by one or more employees or students of Regents at UGA and by one or more 
employees of Sponsor. All right and title in and to Joint Intellectual Property shall be owned 
jointly by UGARF and Sponsor. The Parties shall negotiate an intellectual property management 
agreement to define their respective rights and obligations with respect to legal protection, 
payment of expenses, licensing, and enforcement of Joint Intellectual Property.  

9. Disclosure of Project Intellectual Property. Each Party shall disclose all Project Intellectual Property 
promptly to the other Party in writing, but no later than thirty (30) days after the end of the Term. Each 
Party agrees that it shall not file any patent applications or other forms of intellectual property 
protection on any Project Intellectual Property without prior notice to the other Party.  

10. Option Rights in Project Intellectual Property. UGARF grants to Sponsor an exclusive option to 
negotiate an exclusive license to UGARF Intellectual Property and/or UGARF’s interest in Joint 
Intellectual Property (“Option Intellectual Property”). Sponsor’s option rights to particular Option 
Intellectual Property shall begin upon UGARF’s disclosure of such to Sponsor and shall expire ninety (90) 
days after UGARF’s disclosure of such Option Intellectual Property to Sponsor (“Option Period”).  

10.1 Exercise of Option. At any time during the Option Period associated with particular Option 
Intellectual Property, Sponsor may either (i) terminate its option rights to such by written notice 
to UGARF; or (ii) exercise the option to such Option Intellectual Property by written notice to 
UGARF that identifies the particular Option Intellectual Property of interest to Sponsor. Upon 
UGARF’s timely receipt of any such written notice from Sponsor exercising the option, the 
Parties shall enter a ninety (90) day period (“Negotiation Period”) during which they shall in 
good faith negotiate a commercially reasonable license to the Option Intellectual Property 
identified in the notice.  

10.2 Expiration of Option. UGARF shall have no further obligation to Sponsor with respect to, 
and Sponsor shall have no further option rights in, Option Intellectual Property disclosed by 
UGARF to Sponsor upon the earlier of: (i) termination of Sponsor’s option rights by written 
notice from Sponsor to UGARF; (ii) the expiration of the Option Period without Sponsor having 

- Page 55 -Item #6.



 

 

provided timely written notice to UGARF exercising the option as set out in Paragraph 10.1; or 
(iii) expiration of the associated Negotiation Period with no executed license to such Option 
Intellectual Property.  

10.3 Option Intellectual Property Filings. UGARF may in its sole discretion seek legal protection 
for any UGARF Intellectual Property, and UGARF may file for and prosecute any patent or other 
applications thereon in UGARF’s sole discretion. Further, prior to the execution of a formal 
intellectual property management agreement governing Joint Intellectual Property (Paragraph 
8.3), UGARF may in its sole discretion seek legal protection for such Joint Intellectual Property 
with prior notice to Sponsor, and UGARF may file for and prosecute any patent or other 
applications thereon in UGARF’s sole discretion with prior notice to Sponsor.  

10.4 Option Intellectual Property Expense Reimbursement. Sponsor shall reimburse UGARF for 
any and all expenses incurred by UGARF related to the protection of Option Intellectual Property 
during the associated Option Period. UGARF shall from time to time send invoices to Sponsor for 
such reimbursement, and Sponsor shall deliver payment per each such invoice within thirty (30) 
days of its receipt by Sponsor (or upon a later date if so indicated on the invoice). In addition to 
and other rights and/or remedies UGARF may have, Sponsor’s failure to make any such 
reimbursement when due shall immediately terminate Sponsor’s option rights to the associated 
Option Intellectual Property.  

11. U.S. Government Rights. In the event that UGARF is required to grant, and/or has granted, to the 
U.S. federal government any rights in and to Project Intellectual Property, then the Parties agree that 
their rights to such Project Intellectual Property is subject to the provisions of 37 CFR 401, et al.  

12. No Implied or Background Rights. No rights or obligations other than those expressly recited herein 
are granted or may be implied by this Agreement. Nothing herein constitutes a license or other transfer 
of rights in or to any intellectual property that is not explicitly the subject of this Agreement.  

13. Publication. Sponsor acknowledges and agrees that UGARF, UGA, and/or Principal Investigator shall 
have the sole and unrestricted right to publish or otherwise disclose the Project protocol and results of 
the Project, but only to the extent doing so does not impermissibly disclose Confidential Information 
disclosed by Sponsor to UGARF and/or UGA hereunder. To avoid loss of patent rights from premature 
public disclosure, UGARF shall require the Principal Investigator to deliver to Sponsor all proposed 
articles, manuscripts, presentations, or any other publication of the Project prior to public disclosure. 
Sponsor may review and provide comment, if any, for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt of the 
proposed publication or other public disclosure. Upon Sponsor’s notice to UGARF that Sponsor desires 
to file an application to protect certain Project Intellectual Property related to the proposed publication, 
UGARF shall require Principal Investigator to delay publication until the first of the following has 
occurred: (i) a patent application has been filed on such Project Intellectual Property; or (ii) the Parties 
agree not to pursue protection for such Project Intellectual Property; or (iii) sixty (60) days have expired 
after Sponsor’s notice to UGARF.  

14. DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTIES. THE PROJECT WILL BE CONDUCTED IN UNIVERSITY FACILITIES AND IS 
EXPERIMENTAL IN NATURE. WORK PRODUCT AND PROJECT INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY ARE PROVIDED 
“AS IS.” UGARF, REGENTS, AND PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR 
WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, REGARDING THE SAFETY, UTILITY, VALUE, 

- Page 56 -Item #6.



 

 

PERFORMANCE, MARKETABILITY, OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF THE PROJECT, WORK 
PRODUCT, CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION, OR PROJECT INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, OR THAT SUCH DO 
NOT INFRINGE ANY THIRD PARTY PROPERTY RIGHTS. 

15. Early Termination.  

15.1 Termination for Convenience. This Agreement may be terminated for convenience by 
either Party upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice (“Final Termination Notice”), in which 
case termination shall be effective as of the thirtieth (30th) day after notice or upon a later date 
identified in the notice (“Effective Date of Termination”).  

15.2 Termination for Breach. If a Party materially breaches (“Breaching Party”) any material 
term of this Agreement and fails to cure such breach within thirty (30) days after receipt of 
written notice of such breach by the other Party (“Terminating Party”), then the Terminating 
Party may thereafter deliver, at any time during the Term while the noticed breach remains 
uncured, notice of termination (“Final Termination Notice”) to the Breaching Party, in which 
case this Agreement automatically shall terminate as of the date of the Breaching Party’s receipt 
of such Final Termination Notice or on a later late identified in such notice (“Effective Date of 
Termination”).  

15.3 Payment upon Early Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement by Sponsor under 
Paragraph 15.1 or by UGARF under Paragraph 15.2, Sponsor shall deliver payment to UGARF 
within thirty (30) days of Sponsor’s receipt of UGARF’s invoice for: (i) all amounts due and owing 
up to and including the Effective Date of Termination per the payment schedule at Appendix B; 
(ii) all work actually performed by UGARF and/or UGA but not otherwise paid under (i) above; 
and (iii) all non-cancelable obligations incurred by UGARF and/or UGA prior to the Final 
Termination Notice but not otherwise paid under (i) above (together, the “Termination 
Payment”). However, in the event that, as of the Effective Date of Termination, UGARF has 
received payment from Sponsor in an amount greater than the Termination Payment, then 
UGARF shall return the excess amount to Sponsor.  

15.4 Rights and Obligations Extinguished upon Early Termination. Upon termination of this 
Agreement by Sponsor under Paragraph 15.1 or by UGARF under Paragraph 15.2, then as of the 
Effective Date of Termination: (i) Sponsor’s option rights to all Option Intellectual Property are 
terminated; (ii) Sponsor’s right and license to Work Product is terminated; and (iii) UGARF’s 
obligations to conduct the Project, deliver Work Product, and disclose Project Intellectual 
Property are terminated.  

16. Return or Destruction of Confidential Information. Upon termination of this Agreement for any 
reason, each Recipient of Confidential Information shall destroy all of the Provider’s Confidential 
Information that the Recipient has in its possession or control; or upon timely notice from the Provider, 
the Recipient shall return such Confidential Information to the Provider at the Provider’s expense. 
However, each Recipient may keep one (1) copy of the Discloser’s Confidential Information to the extent 
required by the Recipient’s records retention policies, but the Recipient may not use or access any such 
retained Confidential Information of the other Party for any purpose whatsoever except to the extent 
required by law.  

- Page 57 -Item #6.



 

 

17. Integration. This Agreement and its appendices and attachments embody the entire understanding 
of the Parties with respect to the matters herein and supersede all previous communications, either oral 
or written.  

18. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended only by mutual written agreement. Without limiting 
the foregoing, the terms and conditions of any purchase order that may be associated with the Project 
or this Agreement do not apply, and the terms stated in this Agreement shall control regardless of when 
the purchase order is issued or whether statements on the purchase order indicate otherwise.  

19. No Assignment. A Party may not assign, or subcontract performance of, this Agreement to any third 
party without the prior written consent of the other Party; except that UGARF may subcontract 
performance of the Project and this Agreement to UGA under the terms set forth in herein.  

20. Independent Contractor. UGARF’s relationship to Sponsor is that of independent contractor and not 
employee, joint venturer, or partner.  

21. Use of Names. Neither Party may use the names or marks of the other Party or its subcontractors in 
publicity without prior written approval from the owner of the name or mark. Notwithstanding, a Party 
may use the name of the other Party solely to accurately identify the source of funding or the Project.  

22. Governing law. This Agreement is to be governed by and construed under the laws of the state of 
Georgia without regard to its conflict of law rules.  

23. Export Controls. Work Product, Project Intellectual Property, and Confidential Information may be 
subject to U.S. export control laws, sanctions, and/or embargo requirements. Sponsor shall be solely 
responsible for complying with such laws and other requirements in its use of any rights, information, 
and/or materials obtained under this Agreement. Sponsor understands and agrees that UGARF makes 
no representations that an export license may not be required nor that, if required, such an export 
license will issue with respect to any rights, information, and/or materials delivered by UGARF and/or 
UGA to Sponsor under this Agreement. At the time of disclosure to UGARF and/or UGA, Sponsor shall 
identify and mark with a legend any information and/or materials subject to U.S. export control laws, 
sanctions, and/or embargo requirements before providing such to UGARF or UGA under this Agreement. 
UGARF and/or UGA may decline to accept any such information or materials from Sponsor.  

24. Severability. All rights and duties herein are binding only to the extent that they do not violate any 
laws. If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal, 
or unenforceable, it is the intent of the Parties that any such provision be replaced by a valid provision 
that implements the purpose of the illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision. In the event that any 
provision essential to the purpose of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable by a 
court of competent jurisdiction, all right of appeal has been exhausted, and such essential provision 
cannot be replaced by a valid provision that will implement the purpose of this Agreement, then this 
Agreement and the rights granted herein shall automatically terminate.  

25. Force Majeure. Delays in, or failure of, performance by any Party will not constitute default, or 
trigger any claim for damages, if and to the extent such damages are caused by acts of God, strikes, 
work stoppages, civil disturbances, fires, floods, explosions, riots, war, rebellion, and/or sabotage.  

- Page 58 -Item #6.



 

 

26. Notices. All notices to a Party under this Agreement must be delivered in person, by email, or via 
commercial carrier with tracking to the Administrative Contact identified in Appendix C for such Party, 
or to such other persons and addresses as may be designated by such Party as its Administrative Contact 
by written notice to the other. Notice shall be effective upon receipt.  

27. Survival. All provisions of this Agreement that expressly survive termination do survive termination, 
as well as Sections 5-15, 17-26 (except to the extent rights are extinguished by Section 15.4).  

lN WITNESS whereof, the Parties have executed this Agreement by their authorized representatives on 
the dates indicated below.  

 

University of Georgia      City of Tybee Island 
Research Foundation, Inc. 
 

_____________________________    _____________________________ 

Name: _______________________    Name: _______________________ 

Title: ________________________    Title: ________________________ 

Date: ________________________    Date: ________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

James L. Garrett

Senior Grants Specialist

07/14/2023

- Page 59 -Item #6.



 

 

APPENDIX B – BUDGET  

Sponsor shall deliver a series of payments to UGARF per the following payment schedule.  

Due Date      Payment Amount  
   YEAR ONE 
September 30, 2023     $21,697.00  
December 31, 2023     $21,697.00   
March 31, 2024     $21,697.00   
June 30, 2024      $21,697.00   
   YEAR TWO 
September 30, 2024     $21,697.00   
December 31, 2024     $21,697.00   
March 31, 2025     $21,697.00   
June 30, 2025      $21,697.00   
   YEAR THREE 
September 30, 2025    $21,697.00 
December 31, 2025     $21,697.00   
March 31, 2026     $21,697.00   
June 30, 2026      $21,697.00 
 
$260,364.00 Total Fixed Price Amount Due under this Agreement  

UGARF may issue invoices to Sponsor that coincide with the payment schedule, and in that case Sponsor 
shall deliver payment to UGARF in the amount of each invoice within thirty (30) days of receipt of the 
invoice, or by the date identified as the due date on the invoice, whichever is later. Overdue payments 
will bear interest at the rate of 12% per annum from the date due until paid, and this interest provision 
survives termination.  

Sponsor shall make payment via check to the University of Georgia Research Foundation, Inc. delivered 
to the UGARF Financial Contact identified in Appendix C or to the individual, office, and address 
identified on UGARF’s invoice if different than Appendix C. Alternatively, Sponsor may deliver payment 
to UGARF via wire transfer upon request. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

- Page 60 -Item #6.



 

 

APPENDIX C – CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
 

This Appendix C identifies the “Official Notice Agent” for each party and UGARF’s “Financial 
Contact,” to whom Sponsor shall direct payments made to UGARF under this Agreement.  In 
addition, and for the convenience of the Parties, this Appendix B also identifies the Principal 
Investigator and Sponsor’s Project Director and Financial Contact. 

 
UGARF SPONSOR 

 
Official Notice Agent 

Name: James L. Garrett, Senior Grants Specialist 
Address:           Sponsored Projects Administration 
                           310 East Campus Road 
                           Tucker Hall; Rm 310 
                           Athens, GA  30602-1589 
Telephone: 706-542-6604 
Email: j.garrett@uga.edu 

 
Official Notice Agent 

Name:  George Shaw – Director, Planning and 
Zone 

  
Address: PO Box 2749 
                 Tybee Island, GA 31328 
  
Telephone: 912-472-5031 
Email: george.shaw@cityoftybee.gov 
 

 
Principal Investigator 

Name: Clark Alexander, PhD 
Address:  
Skidaway Institute of Oceanography  
10 Ocean Science Circle  
Savannah, GA 31411  
 
Telephone: 678-572-3015 
Email: clark.alexander@skio.uga.edu 

 
Project Director 

Name: Alan W Robertson 
Address: PO Box 303 
                             Tybee Island, GA 31328 

 
Telephone: 847-525-5040 
Email: arobertson@cityoftybee.gov 

 
Financial Contact 
Name: Brad Langford, Director of Post Award 
Address:            310 East Campus Road 
                           Tucker Hall Room 411 
                           Athens, GA  30602-1589 
 
Telephone: (706) 542-9151 
Email: cgadmin@uga.edu 

 
Financial Contact 

Name: Danielle Bucher, Financial Analyst 
Telephone: 912-472-5028 
Email: danielle.bucher@cityoftybee.gov 
 
Name: Jen Amerell - Finance Director 
Telephone: 912-472-5021 
Email: jen.amerell@cityoftybee.go 
 
Address:  PO Box 2749 
                             Tybee Island, GA 31328 

 

- Page 61 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7. Symbioscity:  Consulting Services Agreement

- Page 62 -Item #7.



 

Consulting Services Agreement 1

CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 
This Consulting Services Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of ____, 2023 
(the “Effective Date”) by and between Symbioscity, a Limited Liability Company (the 
“Consultant”), and the City of Tybee Island, a municipal government (the “Client,” and 
together with the Consultant, the “Parties”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Client wishes to engage the Consultant as an independent 
contractor for the Client for the purpose of providing the professional services set forth 
in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof (the “Services”) on the terms and 
conditions set forth below; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Consultant wishes to provide the Services in accordance with the 

terms of this Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, each Party is duly authorized and capable of entering into this 

Agreement. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals and the mutual 

promises and benefits contained herein, the Parties hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. RESPONSIBILITIES.  
 

(a) Of the Consultant. The Consultant agrees to do each of the following: 
 

A. Perform the Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto; provided, 
however, that if a conflict exists between this Agreement and any 
term in Exhibit A, the terms in this Agreement shall control except as 
to the Scope of Work set forth in Exhibit A. 

 
B. Devote as much productive time, energy, and ability to the 

performance of its duties hereunder as may be necessary to provide 
the required Services in a timely and productive manner. 

 
C. Perform the Services in a safe, good, and workmanlike manner by 

fully-trained, skilled, competent, and experienced personnel using at 
all times adequate equipment in good working order. 

 
D. Communicate with the Client regarding progress the Consultant has 

made in performing the Services. 
 

- Page 63 -Item #7.



 

Consulting Services Agreement 2

E. Provide services (including the Services) that are satisfactory and 
acceptable to the Client. 

 
(b) Of the Client. The Client agrees to do each of the following: 

 
A. Engage the Consultant as an independent contractor to perform the 

Services set forth in Exhibit A to this Agreement.  
 
B. Provide relevant information to assist the Consultant with the 

performance of the Services. 
 

C. Satisfy all of the Consultant’s reasonable requests for assistance in its 
performance of the Services. 

 
2. NATURE OF RELATIONSHIP.  

 
(a) Independent Contractor Status. The Consultant agrees to perform the 

Services hereunder solely as an independent contractor. The Parties 
agree that nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as creating a 
joint venture, partnership, franchise, agency, employer/employee, or 
similar relationship between the Parties, or as authorizing either Party to 
act as the agent of the other. The Consultant is and will remain an 
independent contractor in its relationship to the Client. The Client shall 
not be responsible for withholding taxes with respect to the Consultant’s 
compensation hereunder. The Consultant shall have no claim against the 
Client hereunder or otherwise for vacation pay, sick leave, retirement 
benefits, social security, worker’s compensation, health or disability 
benefits, unemployment insurance benefits, or employee benefits of any 
kind. Nothing in this Agreement shall create any obligation between 
either Party and a third party. 

 
(b) Indemnification of Client by Consultant. The Client has entered into this 

Agreement in reliance on information provided by the Consultant, 
including the Consultant’s express representation that it is an 
independent contractor and in compliance with all applicable laws 
related to work as an independent contractor. If any regulatory body or 
court of competent jurisdiction finds that the Consultant is not an 
independent contractor and/or is not in compliance with applicable laws 
related to work as an independent contractor, based on the Consultant’s 
own actions, the Consultant shall assume full responsibility and liability 
for all taxes, assessments, and penalties imposed against the Consultant 
and/or the Client resulting from such contrary interpretation, including 
but not limited to taxes, assessments, and penalties that would have 

- Page 64 -Item #7.



 

Consulting Services Agreement 3

been deducted from the Consultant’s earnings had the Consultant been 
on the Consultant’s payroll and employed as an employee of the Client. 

 
3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. 

 
(a) The Parties each represent and warrant as follows: 

 
A. Each Party has full power, authority, and right to perform its 

obligations under the Agreement. 
 

B. This Agreement is a legal, valid, and binding obligation of each Party, 
enforceable against it in accordance with its terms (except as may be 
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, or similar laws 
affecting creditors’ rights generally and equitable remedies). 

 
C. Entering into this Agreement will not violate the charter or bylaws of 

either Party or any material contract to which that Party is also a 
party. 

 
(b) The Consultant hereby represents and warrants as follows: 

 
A. The Consultant has the sole right to control and direct the means, 

details, manner, and method by which the Services required by this 
Agreement will be performed. 

 
B. The Consultant has the right to perform the Services required by this 

Agreement at any place or location, and at such times as the 
Consultant shall determine. 

 
C. The Services shall be performed in accordance with standards 

prevailing in the Client’s industry, and shall further be performed in 
accordance with and shall not violate any applicable laws, rules, or 
regulations, and the Consultant shall obtain all permits or permissions 
required to comply with such standards, laws, rules, or regulations. 

 
D. The Services required by this Agreement shall be performed by the 

Consultant, and the Client shall not be required to hire, supervise, or 
pay any assistants to help the Consultant perform such Services.  

 
E. The Consultant is responsible for paying all ordinary and necessary 

expenses of its staff. 
 

F. The Consultant is responsible for providing insurance coverage for 
itself and its staff. 

- Page 65 -Item #7.



 

Consulting Services Agreement 4

 
(c) The Client hereby represents and warrants as follows: 
 

A. The Client will make timely payments of amounts earned by the 
Consultant under this Agreement and in accordance with the terms in 
Exhibit A.  

 
B. The Client shall notify the Consultant of any changes to its procedures 

affecting the Consultant’s obligations under this Agreement at least 
30 days prior to implementing such changes.  

 
C. The Client shall provide such other assistance to the Consultant as it 

deems reasonable and appropriate. 
 

4. COMPENSATION. 
 

(a) Terms and Conditions. The Client shall pay the Consultant in accordance 
with the terms and conditions set forth in Exhibit A. 

 
(b) Timing of Payment. Payments shall be made to the Consultant within 

thirty (30) days of the Client’s receipt of the Consultant’s invoice for all 
Services performed to the Client’s satisfaction in accordance with Exhibit 
A.  

 
(c) No Payments in Certain Circumstances. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

no payment shall be payable to the Consultant under any of the following 
circumstances: 

 
A. if prohibited under applicable government law, regulation, or 

policy; 
 

B. if the Consultant did not directly perform or complete the Services 
described in Exhibit A; 

 
C. if the Consultant did not perform the Services to the reasonable 

satisfaction of the Client; or 
 

D. if the Services performed occurred after the expiration or 
termination of the Term of this Agreement, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing. 

 
(d) No Other Compensation. The compensation set out above shall be the 

Consultant’s sole compensation under this Agreement.  Additional 
services shall be agreed to by both parties in writing.  

- Page 66 -Item #7.



 

Consulting Services Agreement 5

 
(e) Expenses. Any expenses incurred by the Consultant in the performance of 

this Agreement shall be the Consultant’s sole responsibility.  
Reimbursable expenses shall be compensated as outlined in Exhibit A.  

 
(f) Taxes. The Consultant is solely responsible for the payment of all income, 

social security, employment-related, or other taxes incurred as a result of 
the performance of the Services by the Consultant under this Agreement 
and for all obligations, reports, and timely notifications relating to such 
taxes. The Client shall have no obligation to pay or withhold any sums for 
such taxes. 

 
5. WORK FOR HIRE. 

  
The Consultant expressly acknowledges and agrees that any work prepared by the 
Consultant under this Agreement shall be considered “work for hire” and the exclusive 
property of the Client unless otherwise specified. To the extent such work may not be 
deemed a “work for hire” under applicable law, the Consultant hereby assigns to the 
Client all of its right, title, and interest in and to such work. The Consultant shall execute 
and deliver to the Client any instruments of transfer and take such other action that the 
Client may reasonably request, including, without limitation, executing and filing, at the 
Client’s expense, copyright applications, assignments, and other documents required for 
the protection of the Client’s rights to such materials.  
 

6. NO CONFLICT OF INTEREST; OTHER ACTIVITIES. 
 
The Consultant hereby warrants to the Client that, to the best of its knowledge, it is not 
currently obliged under an existing contract or other duty that conflicts with or is 
inconsistent with this Agreement. During the Term (as defined below), the Consultant is 
free to engage in other independent contracting activities; provided, however, the 
Consultant shall not accept work, enter into contracts, or accept obligations inconsistent 
or incompatible with the Consultant’s obligations or the scope of Services to be 
rendered for the Client pursuant to this Agreement.  
 

7. TERM. 
 
This Agreement shall become effective as of the Effective Date and, unless otherwise 
terminated in accordance with the provisions of Section 8 of this Agreement, will 
continue until the Services have been satisfactorily completed and the Consultant has 
been paid in full for such Services (the “Term”) ; provided, however, that in no event 
shall this Agreement remain effective for longer than twelve months. 
 

8. TERMINATION. 
 

- Page 67 -Item #7.



 

Consulting Services Agreement 6

This Agreement may be terminated: 
 

(a) By either Party on provision of thirty (30) days written notice to the other 
Party, with or without cause. 

 
(b) By either Party for a material breach of any provision of this Agreement 

by the other Party, if the other Party’s material breach is not cured within 
fifteen (15) days of receipt of written notice thereof.  

 
(c) By the Client at any time and without prior notice, if the Consultant is 

convicted of any crime or offense, fails or refuses to comply with the 
written policies or reasonable directives of the Client, or is guilty of 
serious misconduct in connection with performance under this 
Agreement. 

 
Following the termination of this Agreement for any reason, the Client shall promptly 
pay the Consultant according to the terms of Exhibit A for Services rendered before the 
effective date of the termination unless the termination is for cause in which case no 
payment is owed. The Consultant acknowledges and agrees that no other 
compensation, of any nature or type, shall be payable hereunder following the 
termination of this Agreement. 
 

9. MODIFICATION. 
 
No amendment, change, or modification of this Agreement shall be valid unless in 
writing and signed by both Parties. 
 

10. ASSIGNMENT. 
 
The Client may assign this Agreement freely, in whole or in part. The Consultant may 
not, without the written consent of the Client, assign, subcontract, or delegate its 
obligations under this Agreement, except that the Consultant may transfer the right to 
receive any amounts that may be payable to it for its Services under this Agreement, 
which transfer will be effective only after receipt by the Client of written notice of such 
assignment or transfer.  
 

11. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. 
 
All references in this Agreement to the Parties shall be deemed to include, as applicable, 
a reference to their respective successors and assigns. The provisions of this Agreement 
shall be binding on and shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the 
Parties.   
 

12. FORCE MAJEURE. 

- Page 68 -Item #7.



 

Consulting Services Agreement 7

 
A Party shall be not be considered in breach of or in default under this Agreement on 
account of, and shall not be liable to the other Party for, any delay or failure to perform 
its obligations hereunder by reason of fire, earthquake, flood, explosion, strike, riot, 
war, terrorism, or similar event beyond that Party’s reasonable control (each a “Force 
Majeure Event”); provided, however, if a Force Majeure Event occurs, the affected Party 
shall, as soon as practicable:  
 

(a) notify the other Party of the Force Majeure Event and its impact on 
performance under this Agreement; and 

 
(b) use reasonable efforts to resolve any issues resulting from the Force 

Majeure Event and perform its obligations hereunder.    
 

13. NO IMPLIED WAIVER.  
 
The failure of either Party to insist on strict performance of any covenant or obligation 
under this Agreement, regardless of the length of time for which such failure continues, 
shall not be deemed a waiver of such Party's right to demand strict compliance in the 
future. No consent or waiver, express or implied, to or of any breach or default in the 
performance of any obligation under this Agreement shall constitute a consent or 
waiver to or of any other breach or default in the performance of the same or any other 
obligation. 
 

14. NOTICE.  
 
Any notice or other communication provided for herein or given hereunder to a Party 
hereto shall be in writing and shall be given in person, by overnight courier, or by mail 
(registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return-receipt requested) to the 
respective Parties as follows:  

 
If to the Client:  
George Shaw 
Planning & Zoning Manager 
City of Tybee Island 
P.O. Box 2749 
403 Butler Avenue 
Tybee Island, GA 31328 
 
If to the Consultant:  
Denise R. Grabowski 
Symbioscity 
P.O. Box 10121 
Savannah, GA  31412 

- Page 69 -Item #7.



 

Consulting Services Agreement 8

 
15. GOVERNING LAW.  

 
This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state of Georgia.   
 

16. COUNTERPARTS/ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES. 
 
This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed an original but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument.  For 
purposes of this Agreement, use of a facsimile, e-mail, or other electronic medium shall 
have the same force and effect as an original signature. 
 

17. SEVERABILITY.  
 
Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such manner 
as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement 
is held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable law or 
rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability will not affect any 
other provision or any other jurisdiction, but this Agreement will be reformed, 
construed, and enforced in such jurisdiction as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable 
provisions had never been contained herein. 
 

18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  
 
This Agreement, constitutes the final, complete, and exclusive statement of the 
agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes any 
and all other prior and contemporaneous agreements and understandings, both written 
and oral, between the Parties. 
 

19. HEADINGS.  
 
Headings used in this Agreement are provided for convenience only and shall not be 
used to construe meaning or intent.  
 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first 
above written. 

 

- Page 70 -Item #7.



 

Consulting Services Agreement 9

CLIENT CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

By:   
Name: 
Title: 

CONSULTANT SYMBIOSCITY LLC 
 

By:    
Name: Denise R. Grabowski 
Title: Owner/CEO 

 

Digitally signed by Denise R. Grabowski 
DN: cn=Denise R. Grabowski, o=Symbioscity, ou, 
email=dgrabowski@symbioscity.com, c=US 
Date: 2023.07.27 15:56:23 -04'00'

- Page 71 -Item #7.



EXHIBIT A 

RFP AND CONSULTANT’S RESPONSE 

- Page 72 -Item #7.



REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
RFP NO. 2023-773 

 
REVIEW OF LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 

 
PROPOSAL DUE: WEDNESDAY, JUNE 14, 2023 at 2:00pm 

 
PRE-PROPOSAL MEETING: WEDNESDAY, MAY 31, 2023 at 2:00pm 

 
CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 

 
SHIRLEY SESSIONS, MAYOR 

 
BARRY BROWN, MAYOR PRO TEM   MICHAEL “SPEC” HOSTI 
 
JAY BURKE       MONTY PARKS 
 
NANCY DEVETTER      BRIAN WEST 
 
 
DOCUMENT CHECK LIST 
 
The following documents are contained in and made a part of this Request For Proposal, and are 
required to be submitted with the Proposal. It is the responsibility of the Proposer to read, complete 
and sign, where indicated, and return these documents with his/her proposal. FAILURE TO DO 
SO MAY BE CAUSE FOR DISQUALIFICATION OF THE PROPOSER. 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
SPECIFICATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS 
 
INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSERS 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
EVALUATION CRITERIA 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  A. SIGNATURE SHEET; B. CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT; C. SAVE 
AFFIDAVIT; D. VENDOR INFORMATION; E. PROPOSAL SHEET; F. CHECK LIST 
 
INTRODUCTION 

    
This is a request for proposals to supply the City of Tybee Island, Georgia (sometimes hereinafter 
referred to as “Owner”) with services as indicated herein. 
 
The City of Tybee Island is seeking proposals from qualified firms to do a thorough review of the 
City’s Land Development Code (LDC).  The code will be reviewed for clarity and adherence to 
state law by the consultant.  This will be followed by a workshop with City Council to discuss 
potential policy changes.  Potential amendments will be drafted and a citizens committee will be 
formed to review, discuss and recommend changes. This will require multiple meetings.  
Amendments will go through the public hearing process. Consultant will coordinate with the - Page 73 -Item #7.



Community Development Director and City Staff throughout the process. 
 
Sealed proposals must be received by 2:00pm local time, on June 14, 2023. The City of Tybee 
Island reserves the right to reject any or all proposals. 
 
A pre-proposal meeting will be held on May 31, 2023 at 2:00pm in the Tybee Island Public 
Safety Building conference room (78 Van Horn, Tybee Island).  Interested firms are 
encouraged to attend, as they will have the opportunity to discuss the scope of work and 
specifications.  
 
METHOD OF AWARD: If the City of Tybee Island awards a contract as a result of this RFP, it will 
be awarded to the responsible proposer deemed able to provide the best value for the City.  The 
award will be based on price among other factors as specified in this RFP. The City reserves the 
right to select the proposer which best meets the City’s goals and objectives, needs, budget 
constraints, and quality levels, as well as its educational and service level expectations. The City 
reserves the right to award a contract to one or multiple vendors, and for one or all specifications. 
The city will not agree to any proposal or contract that will limit the contractor’s obligation to pay 
only up to the amount of the fee to be charged. 
 
Signature of proposer indicates understanding and intended compliance with the terms of this 
request, the requirements herein, and any subsequent award or contract. All specifications, 
conditions, and representations made in this request will become an integral part of the contract. 
Nothing contained within this RFP is indicative of intent by the City of Tybee Island to reimburse 
the proposer, in whole or in part, for any costs associated with preparation, submission, or 
presentation of proposals. 
 
Instructions for preparation and submission of a proposal are contained in this RFP package. Please 
note that specific forms for submission of a proposal are required.  
 
The City of Tybee Island has an equal opportunity purchasing policy to assure all procurement 
procedures are conducted in a manner that provides maximum open and free competition. The City 
seeks to ensure that all segments of the business community have access to supplying the goods 
and services needed by the City. The City provides equal opportunity for all businesses and does 
not discriminate against any persons or businesses regardless of race, color, religion, age, sex, 
national origin or handicap. 
 
The City of Tybee Island is seeking a proposal package for services or materials equal to or 
exceeding specifications set forth on the attached pages. Those not meeting these standards will 
be rejected. 
 
All responses, inquiries, or correspondence relating to, or in reference to, this RFP, and all reports, 
charts, displays, schedules, exhibits and other documentation by the proposers will become the 
property of the City when received. The City retains the right to use any or all ideas presented in 
any response to this RFP, whether amended or not. Selection or rejection of the proposal does not 
affect this right.  
 
SPECIFICATIONS AND REQUIREMENTS 
 

• Review entire Land Development Code for clarity and adherence to applicable 
state and federal law as well as proposed revisions and improvements. 

• Conduct workshop with City Council to discuss potential policy changes 
• Inventory non-conforming uses in R-1, R-1B, and R-2 districts 

- Page 74 -Item #7.



• Hold a total of 6 (six) meetings with a citizens committee to work through 
potential amendments. Additional meeting may be required at additional cost. 
(See proposal sheet – attachment E) 

• Draft and resent potential amendments to City Council 
• Complete process within six months of award 

 
1.   INSTRUCTIONS TO PROPOSERS  

 
Purpose: The purpose of this document is to provide general and specific information for use in 
submitting a proposal to supply the City of Tybee Island with equipment, supplies, and/or services 
as described herein. All RFP’s are governed by the Code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, 15-
2015 Sec 1, Art VII, Procurement, Sec 2-400, and the laws of the State of Georgia. 
 
Proposers must carefully review all provisions of, and attachments to, this document prior to 
submission. Each proposal constitutes an offer and cannot be withdrawn except as provided herein. 
This RFP and any attachments, plans, and/or other related documents can be found on the City’s 
website at https://www.cityoftybee.org/Bids.aspx. It is incumbent upon the proposer to check 
the website for additional information and/or addendums. 
 
1.1 How to Prepare Proposals:  
 
 All Proposals: 

 
a. Must be prepared on the forms enclosed herewith, unless otherwise prescribed, and 

all documents must be submitted. 
 

b. Must be signed by the business owner or authorized representative, with all 
erasures or corrections initialed and dated by the official signing the Proposal. ALL 
SIGNATURE SPACES MUST BE SIGNED. 

 
1.2 How to Submit Proposals: 
 

One original, and one electronic copy (usb flash drive) must be submitted in a sealed 
opaque envelope, plainly marked with the RFP number and title, and proposer’s company 
name, to the office of the address below prior to the time specified. Include your proposal, 
and all required attachments, which can be found at the end of this document.  

 
• Include all requested documents (See attachment ‘F’) 

 
• City/County Occupational Tax Certificate Requirement: Contractor must 

supply a copy of their Occupational Tax Certificate as proof of payment of the 
occupational tax where their office is located 

 
• Include at least three (3) references documenting your experience with similar 

projects. Include name of project, location, and current reference contact 
information including name, phone number, and email address. In addition to 
the information above, submit a written description of how these projects 
relate to this RFP. 

 
• All Proposals must be hand delivered or sent by courier in sufficient time to 

ensure receipt by the Purchasing Agent on or before the time and date 
specified above. Include “RFP #2023-773, LDC Review” on the front of 
envelope. 

- Page 75 -Item #7.

https://www.cityoftybee.org/Bids.aspx


 
• Courier or hand deliver proposal package to:   

 
 MELISSA FREEMAN 

TYBEE ISLAND CITY HALL 
403A BUTLER AVE 
TYBEE ISLAND, GA. 31328 
  

DO NOT SEND PROPOSAL BY US POSTAL SERVICE 
 

FAXED OR E-MAILED COPIES WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED. PROPOSALS 
NOT RECEIVED BY THE TIME AND DATE SPECIFIED WILL NOT BE 
OPENED.  
 

1.3 How to Submit an Objection: 
 

Potential respondents must present any written objection to this RFP at least seven (7) days 
prior to the proposal due date. The objections contemplated may pertain to form and/or 
substance of the RFP documents. Objections must be made in writing to Melissa Freeman 
mfreeman@cityoftybee.gov. Email subject line: Objection to RFP #2023-773. 

 
1.4 Errors in RFP responses:  

 
Proposers are expected to fully inform themselves as to the conditions, requirements, and 
specifications of this RFP before submitting proposal. Failure to do so will be at the 
Proposer's own risk. In case of error in extension of prices in the proposal, the unit price 
will govern. 

 
1.5 Questions concerning RFP:  

 
Questions, inquiries, suggestions, or requests concerning interpretation, clarification or 
additional information concerning any portion of this RFP must be made by email, sent to 
the below named individual who will be the official point of contact for this RFP. Questions 
must be submitted at least seven days before the proposal due date. 
 
Mark subject line on e-mail “Questions on RFP 2023-773, LDC Review” 
 
POINT OF CONTACT: 
George Shaw 
gshaw@cityoftybee.gov 
 
Failure of a respondent to ask questions, request changes, or submit objections by the dates 
indicated above shall constitute the respondent's acceptance of all of the terms, conditions 
and requirements set forth in this RFP. 
 

1.6 Addendums to RFP:  
 

Any changes to the conditions or specifications in this RFP must be in the form of a written 
addendum to be valid. If the City of Tybee Island issues an addendum to this RFP, it will 
be posted by the Purchasing Agent on the City’s website.  
 
The issuance of a written addendum by the Purchasing Agent is the only official method 

- Page 76 -Item #7.

mailto:mfreeman@cityoftybee.gov
mailto:gshaw@cityoftybee.gov


by which interpretation, clarification or additional information will be given. The City of 
Tybee Island will not be responsible for any oral representation given by any employee, 
representative or others.   
 
Respondent must sign any issued addendum and return with their proposal. It is solely the 
responsibility of the respondent to ensure that all addenda have been received and 
changes are incorporated into the response before submission. Signed addenda must 
be returned with the response. Unless otherwise specified in an addendum, the due date 
and time remains as listed above.  

 
2 GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
2.1 Specifications: Any obvious error or omission in specifications will not inure to the 

benefit of the proposer but will put the proposer on notice to inquire of or identify the 
same from the City of Tybee Island. Whenever herein mentioned is made of any article, 
material or workmanship to be in accordance with laws, ordinances, building codes, 
underwriter's codes, A.S.T.M. regulations or similar expressions, the requirements of 
these laws, ordinances, etc., will be construed to be the minimum requirements of these 
specifications. 

 
2.2 Standards for Acceptance of Proposal for Contract Award: City of Tybee Island 

reserves the right to reject any or all proposals and to waive any irregularities or 
technicalities in proposals received whenever such rejection or waiver is in the best 
interest of City of Tybee Island. City of Tybee Island reserves the right to reject the 
proposal from a proposer who has previously failed to perform properly or complete on 
time contracts of a similar nature, or a proposal from a proposer whom investigation shows 
is not in a position to perform the contract. 

 
2.3 Proposer: Whenever the term "proposer" is used it will encompass the "person," 

"business," "supplier," "vendor," or other party submitting a proposal to City of Tybee 
Island in such capacity before a contract has been entered into between such party and 
City of Tybee Island. 

 
2.4 Responsible / Responsive proposer:  Responsible proposer means a person or entity that 

has the capability in all respects to perform fully and reliably the contract requirements. 
Responsive proposer means a person or entity that has submitted a proposal that conforms 
in all material respects to the requirements set forth in this RFP. 

 
2.5 Compliance with Laws: The proposer will obtain and maintain all licenses, permits, 

liability insurance, worker's compensation insurance and comply with any and all other 
standards or regulations required by federal, state, county or city statute, ordinances and 
rules during the performance of any contract between the contractor and City of Tybee 
Island. Any such requirement specifically set forth in any contract document between the 
contractor and City of Tybee Island will be supplementary to this section and not in 
substitution thereof. 

 
2.6 Contractor: Contractor or subcontractor means any person or business having a contract 

with City of Tybee Island. The Contractor/Vendor of goods, material, equipment or 
services certifies that they will follow equal employment opportunity practices in 
connection with the awarded contract as more fully specified in the contract documents. 

 
2.7 State Licensing Board for General Contractors:  If applicable, pursuant to Georgia law, 

any respondent must be a Georgia licensed General Contractor (Contractor work or 
activity that is unlimited in scope regarding any residential or commercial projects). 

- Page 77 -Item #7.



 
2.8 Security & Immigration Compliance: On 1 July 2007, the Georgia Security and 

Immigration Compliance Act (SB 529, Section 2) became effective. All contractors and 
subcontractors entering into a contract or performing work must sign an affidavit that 
he/she has used the E-Verify System. E-Verify is a no-cost federal employment 
verification system to insure employment eligibility. No proposals will be considered 
unless a signed E-Verify Affidavit is enclosed with the submittal package. 

 
Affidavits are enclosed in this solicitation. You may download M-274 Handbook for 
Employers at http://www.dol.state.ga.us/spotlight/employment/rules. You may go to 
http://www.uscis.gov to find the E-Verify information. 

 
Systematic Alien Verification for Entitlements (SAVE) Program: O.C.G.A. 50-36-1 
required Georgia cities to comply with the federal Systematic Alien Verification for 
Entitlements (SAVE) Program. SAVE is a federal program used to verify that applicants 
for certain “public benefits” are legally present in the United States. Contracts with the 
City are considered “public benefits.” Responders are required to provide the Affidavit 
Verifying Status for City of Tybee Benefit Application prior to receiving any City 
contract. The affidavit is included as part of this RFP package. 

 
Protection of Resident Workers. City of Tybee Island actively supports the Immigration 
and Nationality Act (INA), which includes provisions addressing employment eligibility, 
employment verification, and nondiscrimination. Under the INA, employers can hire only 
persons who can legally work in the United States (i.e., citizens and nationals of the U.S.) 
and aliens authorized to work in the U.S. The employer must verify the identity and 
employment eligibility of any hiree, which includes completing the Employment 
Eligibility Verification Form (I-9). The Contractor will establish appropriate procedures 
and controls so no services or products under the Contract Documents will be performed 
or manufactured by any worker who is not legally eligible to perform such services or 
employment. 

 
2.9 Permitting and Approvals: The contractor that is awarded the contract will be 

responsible for securing all necessary federal, state and local approvals required for the 
project. 

 
2.10 Prices to be Firm: Respondent warrants that prices, terms and conditions quoted in his 

proposal will be firm for acceptance for a period of sixty (60) days from proposal opening 
date. 

 
2.11 Quality: All materials or supplies used for, or the workmanship employed in, any 

construction necessary to comply with this RFP, will be of the best quality, and adhere to 
the highest industry standards.  
 

2.12 Liability Provisions: Where proposers are required to enter or go onto City of Tybee 
Island property to take measurements or gather other information in order to prepare the  
as requested by the City, the proposer will be liable for any injury, damage or loss 
occasioned by negligence of the proposer, its agent, or any person the proposer has 
designated to prepare the proposal and will indemnify and hold harmless City of Tybee 
Island from any liability arising there from. The contract document specifies the liability 
provisions required of the successful proposer in order to be awarded a contract with City 
of Tybee Island. 
 

2.13 Cancellation of Contract: The contract may be canceled or suspended by City of Tybee 
Island in whole or in part by written notice of default to the Contractor upon non-

- Page 78 -Item #7.

http://www.dol.state.ga.us/spotlight/employment/rules
http://www.uscis.gov/


performance or violation of contract terms. An award may be made to the next higher 
ranked proposer, for articles and/or services specified or they may be purchased on the 
open market. The defaulting Contractor (or its surety) will be liable to City of Tybee Island 
for costs to the City of Tybee Island in excess of the defaulted contract prices. See the 
contract documents for complete requirements. 

 
2.14 Certification of Independent Price Determination: By submission of this proposal, the 

Proposer certifies, and in the case of a joint proposal each party thereto certifies as to its 
own organization, that in connection with this procurement:  
 

a. The prices in this proposal have been arrived at independently, without 
consultation, communication, or agreement, for the purpose of restricting 
competition, as to any matter relating to such prices with any other proposer or 
with any competitor; unless otherwise required by law, the prices which have been 
quoted in this proposal have not been knowingly disclosed by the proposer and 
will not knowingly be disclosed by the proposer prior to opening, directly or 
indirectly to any other respondent or to any competitor; and  

 
b. No attempt has been made or will be made by the proposer to induce any other 

person or firm to submit or not to submit a proposal for the purpose of restricting 
competition. 

 
2.15 Qualification of Business (Responsible Proposer): The Scope of Work, specifications 

and plans define a responsible Proposer as one who meets, or by the date of the proposal 
acceptance can meet, certifications, all requirements for licensing, insurance, and 
registrations, or other documentation required. The City has the right to require any or all 
proposers to submit documentation of the ability to perform, provide, or carry out the 
service or provide the product requested. The City has the right to disqualify the proposal 
of any proposer as being unresponsive or un-responsible whenever such Proposer cannot 
document the ability to deliver the requested product or service.  

 
2.16 Insurance Provisions, General: The selected proposer to whom the contract is awarded 

will be required to procure and maintain for the duration of the contract insurance against 
claims for injuries to persons or damages to property that may arise from, or in connection 
with, the performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, his agents, representatives, 
employees or subcontractors. The cost of such insurance must be included in the proposal. 

 
a. General Information that must appear on a Certificate of Insurance: 

i. Name of the Producer (proposer’s insurance Broker/Agent). 
ii. Companies affording coverage (there may be several). 
iii. Name and Address of the Insured (this is the Company or Parent of the firm the 

City is contracting with). 
iv. A Summary of all current insurance for the insured (includes effective dates of 

coverage). 
v. A brief description of the operations to be performed, the specific job to be 

performed, and contract number. 
vi. Certificate Holder (This must always include the City of Tybee Island). 

 
City of Tybee Island as an Additional Insured: The City of Tybee Island must be 
named as a Certificate Holder and as an Additional Insured. 

 
b. Minimum Limits of Insurance to be maintained for the duration of the contract: 

 
i. Commercial General Liability: Provides protection against bodily injury and 

- Page 79 -Item #7.



property damage claims arising from operations of a Contractor. This policy 
coverage includes premises and operations, use of independent contractors, 
products/completed operations, personal injury, contractual, broad form 
property damage, and underground, explosion and collapse hazards. Minimum 
limits: $2,000,000 bodily injury and property damage per occurrence and annual 
aggregate. 

 
ii. Professional Liability: Coverage insures against liability claims rising out of 

the Contractor’s provision of professional services. Minimum limit: $2,000,000 
per occurrence and annual aggregate. 

 
THE INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS AND LIMITS STATED HEREIN MAY 
BE SATISFIED BY A COMBINATION OF PRIMARY, UMBRELLA AND/OR 
EXCESS COVERAGES. 

 
2.17 Compliance with Specification - Terms and Conditions: The RFP, Legal 

Advertisement, General Conditions and Instructions to Proposers, Specifications, Special 
Conditions, Addendum, and/or any other pertinent documents form a part of the  Proposal 
and by reference are made a part hereof. 

 
2.18 Signed Proposal Considered Offer: The signed Proposal will be considered a binding 

offer on the part of the Proposer, which offer will be deemed accepted upon approval by 
the City of Tybee Island Mayor and Council, Purchasing Agent or designee, as may be 
applicable. In case of a default on the part of the Proposer after such acceptance, the City 
of Tybee Island may take such action as it deems appropriate, including legal action, for 
damages or lack of required performance. 

 
2.19 Notice to Proceed: The successful proposer must not commence work under this RFP 

until a written contract is awarded and a Notice to Proceed is issued by the Purchasing 
Agent or his designee, or as specified in the Special Conditions. If the successful Proposer 
does commence any work or deliver items prior to receiving official notification, he does 
so at his own risk. 

 
2.20 Protest Policy: Any proposer who is aggrieved in connection with the award of a contract 

may file a protest with the Purchasing Agent. The protest must be submitted no later than 
48 hours prior to the date the award recommendation is scheduled to be approved by City 
Council. Recommendations to Council are usually posted on the preliminary agenda on 
the City's website on the Thursday prior to the Council meeting date. It is the proposer's 
responsibility to ascertain the City's recommendation for award. Protests must be made in 
writing to the Purchasing agent, Melissa Freeman at mfreeman@cityoftybee.org, with the 
subject line Protest: RFP #2023-773, and must include the following information:  

 
a. Name, address, email address, and telephone numbers of the protester;  
b. RFP number; 
c. Detailed statement of the legal and factual grounds for the protest, including a 

description of resulting harm to the protester; 
d. Copies of supporting documents, if any; 
e. Statement of relief requested;  
f. All information establishing that the protester is an interested party for the purpose 

of filing a protest on an award decision;  
g. All information establishing the timeliness of the protest.  

 
2.21 Payment to Contractors:  Instructions for invoicing the City of Tybee Island for products 

delivered to the City will be specified in the contract document. 
- Page 80 -Item #7.

mailto:mfreeman@cityoftybee.org


 
a. Questions regarding payment may be directed to the Accounting Department at 912-

472-5024 or City of Tybee Island’s Project Manager as specified in the contract 
documents. 

 
b. Contractors will be paid the agreed upon compensation upon satisfactory delivery of 

the products or completion of the work as more fully described in the contract 
document. 

 
c. City of Tybee Island is a tax-exempt entity. Every contractor, vendor, business or 

person under contract with City of Tybee Island is required by Georgia law to pay 
State sales or use taxes for products purchased in Georgia or transported into Georgia 
and sold to City of Tybee Island by contract. Please consult the State of Georgia, 
Department of Revenue, Sales and Use Tax Unit in Atlanta (404) 656-4065 for 
additional information. 

 
2.22 Owner’s Rights Concerning Award: The Owner reserves the right, and sole and 

complete discretion to waive technicalities and informalities. The Owner further reserves 
the right, and sole and complete discretion to reject all proposals, and any proposal that is 
not responsive or that is over the budget, as amended, or that fails to suit the needs of the 
City as determined by the Owner in its sole discretion. In judging whether the Proposer is 
responsible, the Owner will consider, but is not limited to consideration of, the following:  

 
a. Whether the Proposer or principals are currently ineligible, debarred, suspended, or 

otherwise excluded from contracting by any state or federal agency, department, or 
authority;  

 
b. Whether the Proposer or principals have been terminated for cause or are currently in 

default on a public works contract; 
 

c. Whether the Proposer can demonstrate a commitment to safety with regard to 
Workers' Compensation by having an experience Modification Rate (EMR) over the 
past three years not having exceeded an average of 1.2; and 

 
d. Whether the Proposer’s past work provides evidence of an ability to successfully 

complete public works projects within the established time, quality, or cost, or to 
comply with the Proposer’s contract obligations. 

 
2.23 Debarred or Suspended Subcontractors: Contractor will not subcontract, and will 

ensure that no subcontracts are awarded at any tier, to any individual, firm, partnership, 
joint venture, or any other entity regardless of the form of business organization, that is on 
the Federal Excluded Parties List System (EPLS) at https://www.epls.gov or the State of 
Georgia, DOAS, State Purchasing Exclusion listing, or other local government entity. This 
includes pending litigation or claims with the City or other government entities. Contractor 
will immediately notify City of Tybee Island in the event any subcontractor is added to a 
Federal, State or other Government Entity listing after award of the subcontract.  

 
2.24 Cone of Silence: Lobbying of Procurement Evaluation Committee members, City 

employees, and elected officials regarding this product or service solicitation, Request for 
Proposal (RFP) or contract by any member of a proposer’s staff, or those people employed 
by any legal entity affiliated with an organization that is responding to the solicitation is 
strictly prohibited. Negative campaigning through the mass media about the current 
service delivery is strictly prohibited. Such actions will cause render your proposal invalid. 

 
- Page 81 -Item #7.



2.25 Georgia Open Records Act: The responses will become part of the City of Tybee Island’s 
official files without any obligation on the City of Tybee Island’s part. Ownership of all 
data, materials and documentation prepared for and submitted to City of Tybee Island in 
response to a solicitation, regardless of type, will belong exclusively to City of Tybee 
Island and will be considered a record prepared and maintained or received in the course 
of operations of a public office or agency and subject to public inspection in accordance 
with the Georgia Open Records Act, Official Code of Georgia Annotated, Section 50-18-
70, et. Seq., unless otherwise provided by law. 

 
It is the responsibility of the Proposer to notify the City of any documents turned over 
which contain trade secrets or other confidential matters. A Proposer submitting records 
which the entity or person believes contains trade secrets that wishes to keep such records 
confidential pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 50-19-72(34) will submit and attach to the records an 
affidavit affirmatively declaring that specific information in the records constitute trade 
secrets pursuant to Article 27 of Chapter 1 of Title 10 of the Official Code of Georgia. 

 
Proposals will not be opened in public, and the information is exempt from disclosure, 
including the Open Records Act, until the RFP has been awarded, or all proposals have 
been rejected. 

 
City of Tybee Island will not be held accountable if material from responses is obtained 
without the written consent of the proposer by parties other than the City of Tybee Island, 
at any time during the solicitation and evaluation process. 

 
2.26 Georgia Trade Secret Act of 1990: In the event a Proposer submits trade secret 

information to the City of Tybee Island, the information must be clearly labeled as a Trade 
Secret. The City of Tybee Island will maintain the confidentiality of such trade secrets to 
the extent provided by law. 
 

2.27 Contractor Records: The Georgia Open Records Act is applicable to the records of all 
contractors and subcontractors under contract with the City of Tybee Island. This applies 
to those specific contracts currently in effect and those that have been completed or closed 
for up three (3) years following completion.  

 
2.28 Method of Compensation:  The compensation provided for herein will include all claims 

by the contractor for all costs incurred by the contractor in the conduct of the Project as 
authorized by the approved Project Compensation Schedule and this amount will be paid 
to the contractor after receipt of the invoice and approval of the amount by the City of 
Tybee Island.  The City will make payments to the contractor within thirty (30) days from 
the date of receipt of the contractor's acceptable statement on forms prepared by the 
contractor and approved by the City of Tybee Island. 
 
Should the Project begin within any one month, the first invoice will cover the partial 
period from the beginning date of the Project through the last day of the month (or on a 
mutually agreeable time) in which it began.  The invoices will be submitted each month 
until the Project is completed.  Invoices will be itemized to reflect actual expenses for each 
individual task; also refer to the requirements concerning changes, delays and termination 
of work pursuant to provisions of the contract. Each invoice will be accompanied by a 
summary progress report, which outlines the work accomplished during the billing period 
and any problems that may be inhibiting the Project execution.  The terms of this contract 
are intended to supersede all provisions of the Georgia Prompt Pay Act.  
 

2.29 Audits and Inspections: The contractor and his subcontractors will make available to the 
City of Tybee Island for examination of all its records with respect to all matters covered 

- Page 82 -Item #7.



by this Contract. It will also permit the City of Tybee Island and/or representatives of the 
Finance Department to audit, inspect, examine and make copies, excerpts or transcripts 
from such records of personnel, conditions of employment and other data relating to all 
matters covered by this Contract. All documents to be audited will be available for 
inspection between 8am and 5pm in the main offices of the City of Tybee Island or during 
normal business hours at the offices of the Contractor, as requested by the City of Tybee 
Island. 
 

3.  EVALUATION CRITERIA: 
 
This is not a bid. There will not be a public opening. The Proposals received in response 
to this RFP will be evaluated and ranked, by the Proposal Evaluation Team in 
accordance with the process and evaluation criteria contained below. Responses will 
be evaluated in light of the material and substantiating evidence presented in the 
response, and not based on what is inferred. After thoroughly reading and reviewing 
this RFP, each team member shall conduct his or her independent evaluation of the 
proposals received, and grade the responses on their merit in accordance with the 
evaluation criteria set forth in the following table. 

  
   

Criteria Possible 
Points 

Experience with LDC code writing 25 

Experience with group facilitation 20 

General planning experience 20 

Quality of, and response from, references 20 

Cost of services 15 

 
  

- Page 83 -Item #7.



ATTACHMENT A 
 
 
CITY OF TYBEE - INSTRUCTIONS TO RESPONDENT SIGNATURE SHEET 
 
The Respondent certifies that he/she has examined all documents contained in this RFP package, 
and is familiar with all aspects of the RFP and understands fully all that is required of the successful 
Respondent. The Respondent further certifies that his/her Proposal will not be withdrawn for sixty 
(60) days from the date on which his Proposal is submitted to the City. 
 
The Respondent agrees, if awarded this Contract, he/she will: 
 
A. Furnish, upon receipt of an authorized City of Tybee Island Purchase Order, all items 
indicated thereon as specified in this RFP for the Proposal amount; or, 
 
B. Enter a contract with City of Tybee Island to do and/or furnish everything necessary to 
provide the service and/or accomplish the work as stated and/or specified in this RFP for the 
Proposal amount, and; 
 
                                                 
COMPANY       DATE 
 
                                            
SIGNATURE         TITLE 
 
                              
TELEPHONE NUMBER 
 
 
 
 

 
MINORITY/FEMALE BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM: City of Tybee Island City Council 
established goals oriented to increase participation of minority and female owned businesses, through MBE/WBE 
certification and development.  In order to accurately document participation, businesses submitting bids, quotes or 
proposals are encouraged to report ownership status.  A minority or women business is defined as a business that is at 
least 51% owned and managed by minority or women. 
 
A responder that is certified by any agency of the Federal Government or State of Georgia may submit a copy of their 
certification with their Proposal as proof of qualifications.  Respondent that intends to engage in joint ventures or utilize 
sub-consultants must submit a report of Minority/Women Business Enterprise participation to Melissa Freeman, P.O. 
Box 2749, and City of Tybee Island, GA 31328.   
 

African-American\Black_____ Asian American_____ Hispanic_____ Native American_____ 
 

Alaskan Indian_____ Female_____ 
 
  

- Page 84 -Item #7.

dgrabowski
Typewritten Text
x



ATTACHMENT B 
 

 CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT under O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91(b) (1) 
 

By executing this affidavit, the undersigned contractor verifies its compliance with O.C.G.A. § 13-
10-91, stating affirmatively that the individual, firm or corporation which is engaged in the 
physical performance of services on behalf of CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND has registered with, is 
authorized to use and uses the federal work authorization program commonly known as E-Verify, 
or any subsequent replacement program, in accordance with the applicable provisions and 
deadlines established in O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91. Furthermore, the undersigned contractor will 
continue to use the federal work authorization program throughout the contract period and the 
undersigned contractor will contract for the physical performance of services in satisfaction of 
such contract only with subcontractors who present an affidavit to the contractor with the 
information required by O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91(b). Contractor hereby attests that its federal work 
authorization user identification number and date of authorization are as follows:  
 
_________________________________ 
Federal Work Authorization User Identification Number 
 
_________________________________ 
Date of Authorization  
 
_________________________________ 
Name of Contractor  
 
_________________________________ 
Name of Project  
 
_________________________________ 
Name of Public Employer  

I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed on ______, ___, 20__ in _____ (city), ______ (state). 
 
_________________________________ 
Signature of Authorized Officer or Agent 
 
_______________________________ 
Printed Name and Title of Authorized Officer or Agent  

 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME ON THIS THE___ DAY OF _____, 20__.  
 
_________________________________ 
NOTARY PUBLIC 
My Commission Expires: 

 
 
 
 

  

- Page 85 -Item #7.



ATTACHMENT C 
 

O.C.G.A. § 50-36-1(e)(2) Affidavit 
 

By executing this affidavit under oath, as an applicant for a(n) ____________________ contract 
for a public benefit as referenced in O.C.G.A. § 50-36-1, from the CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, 
Georgia, the undersigned applicant verifies one of the following with respect to my application for 
a public benefit: 
 
1) _________ I am a United States citizen. 
 
2) _________ I am a legal permanent resident of the United States. 
 
3) _________ I am a qualified alien or non-immigrant under the Federal Immigration and 

Nationality Act with an alien number issued by the Department of Homeland 
Security or other federal immigration agency.  

  
 My alien number issued by the Department of Homeland Security or other federal 

immigration agency is ___________________.  
 
The undersigned applicant also hereby verifies that he or she is 18 years of age or older and has 
provided at least one secure and verifiable document, as required by O.C.G.A.  
§ 50-36-1(e)(1), with this affidavit.  
 
The secure and verifiable document provided with this affidavit can best be classified as: 
_____________________________________________________________________. 
 
In making the above representation under oath, I understand that any person who knowingly and 
willfully makes a false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation in an affidavit will be 
guilty of a violation of O.C.G.A. § 16-10-20, and face criminal penalties as allowed by such 
criminal statute.  
 
Executed in ___________________ (city), __________________(state). 
 

_________________________________ 
Signature of Applicant  

 
_________________________________ 
Printed Name of Applicant  

 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME ON THE ___ DAY OF ___________, 20____ 
 
_________________________ 
NOTARY PUBLIC  
My Commission Expires:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

- Page 86 -Item #7.

dgrabowski
Typewritten Text

dgrabowski
Typewritten Text
X

dgrabowski
Typewritten Text
Georgia driver's licence 

dgrabowski
Typewritten Text
Denise R. Grabowski



ATTACHMENT D 
 

 
CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND    VENDOR INFORMATION 

 
 
 

Vendor Name: ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Product or Services Provided: __________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Sales Contact Information 
 
 

Contact: ___________________________________ Email: ____________________________________ 
 
Phone: _____________________________________ Fax: ______________________________________ 
 
Address: 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Accounts Receivable Information 
 
 

Contact: ___________________________________ Email: ____________________________________ 
 
Phone: _____________________________________ Fax: ______________________________________ 
 
Remittance Address: ___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
Federal Tax Id #: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 

Attach Copy of W-9 and Current Business License 
 
Provide Copy of Worker’s Comp Coverage when providing any service involving labor on City property. 
Our terms are net 30 

 
    

  

- Page 87 -Item #7.



 ATTACHMENT E 
PROPOSAL SHEET 

RFP 2023-773 
LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TOTAL PROJECT COST:        $______________  
 
 
COST PER ADDITIONAL MEETING(S) IF NECESSARY   $______________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
__________________________(Firm) 
 
__________________________ (Signature) 
 
__________________________ (Title) 
 
__________________________ (Date) 
  

- Page 88 -Item #7.

dgrabowski
Typewritten Text



ATTACHMENT F 
 

CHECK LIST FOR SUBMITTING PROPOSAL 
 
Sign below and submit this sheet with proposal 
 
NOTE: All of the following items must be submitted with your Proposal to be considered 
“responsive”.  Remember to follow the Instructions in the RFP Documents. 
 
SIGNED ADDENDUMS (IF APPLICABLE)     _____  
 
W-9             _____ 
 
OCCUPATIONAL TAX CERTIFICATE      _____ 
 
CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE       _____ 
 
 
 
COMPLETE AND SUBMIT ALL ATTACHMENTS TO THE PROPOSAL: 
 

A.  SIGNATURE SHEET     _____   
B. CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT    _____ 
C. SAVE AFFIDAVIT      _____ 
D.  VENDOR INFORMATION     _____ 
E. PROPOSAL SHEET      _____ 
F.  CHECK LIST       _____ 

  
 
__________________________________________        
NAME/TILE 
 
__________________________________________       
COMPANY NAME    
 
__________________________________________      
ADDRESS 
 
__________________________________________      
CITY/STATE/ZIP 
 
__________________________________________   
PHONE NUMBER 
 
__________________________________________ 
EMAIL 
 
__________________________________________ 
SIGNATURE 
 

- Page 89 -Item #7.

dgrabowski
Typewritten Text



  Project Approach

and Schedule

The City of Tybee Island is loved for its funky character, beach vibes, and quirky 
personality. The City is also at the forefront of natural resource protection and 

integration of sustainable practices, particularly in the face of sea level rise and climate 
change. Tybee Island, as one of three public beaches in Georgia accessible by car, continues 
to face development pressures and strives to maintain a balance between residents and 
tourists, prioritizing overall quality of life for the community. 

The land development code (LDC) is a critical tool for the City of Tybee Island in working 
to protect quality of life, sense of community, stewardship of historic, cultural, and 

natural resources, and wise use and investment in infrastructure. The City of Tybee Island 
is to be commended for taking a proactive approach to review its LDC and identify areas 
in need of update. Based on the RFP as well as information shared in the pre-bid meeting, 
the Symbioscity team understands that this review and update is a priority for City 
Council and that while there’s not a singular issue driving this review, the City has already 
identified several areas that likely are in need of updating, including parking, signage, 
tree protection, home occupation/home business, and zoning districts, including by right/
uses after special review.

- Page 90 -Item #7.



The scope of work outlined below outlines our anticipated approach for this project. We see this as a 
collaborative effort between our team and the City of Tybee. 

Our approach will capitalize on our:
•	 depth of professional expertise in planning, code development, land use, development patterns, 

transportation, and more, all supplemented with excellent technical resources;
•	 experience working with local government; 
•	 familiarity with the issues and opportunities for the City of Tybee Island and the coastal context, and;
•	 local knowledge of the area, natural environment, and coastal culture.

The Symbioscity Team will represent a consistent resource throughout the planning process to address 
critical issues. Our approach is to build upon our strengths of local presence and knowledge, technical 
resources, and professional expertise to provide the highest level of quality service. Our team will be led by 
Denise Grabowski who will manage the overall process, lead the facilitation of meetings throughout the 
LDC update, and serve as the primary point of contact for the City of Tybee. Glenn Coyne of GMC and Kelly 
Klepper of Kimley-Horn will also serve as Key Team Leaders, providing a depth of regional knowledge and 
experience.

The development of the land development regulations will require a transparent and accessible process. 
In order to keep the City informed of our progress, we will meet regularly with the City staff and citizen 
advisory committee. In addition to regularly scheduled meetings, the Symbioscity Team can also respond 
to unforeseen circumstances. We have found through our experience that many assignments come up 
unexpectedly and assistance is required to meet an immediate and focused need. With our local presence, 
we can provide this assistance at a moment’s notice. We do not need to make travel arrangements, hotel 
reservations, or schedule meetings weeks in advance. We are here and we are available to provide immediate 
service with a telephone call. In addition, our local presence minimizes direct cots, which in turn maximizes 
available funds.

As we develop our project schedule in conjunction with the City of Tybee Island, we will include milestone 
dates for deliverables in order to ensure shared understanding and expectations.  Early on, we will meet 
with the City of Tybee to review the scope and adjust as needed. We are also committed to meeting the six-
month time frame, as set forth by the City of Tybee. All meetings will be scheduled as early as practical to 
avoid scheduling conflicts. Since we have multiple team members with a depth of code experience, we can 
conduct simultaneous reviews of individual code sections to expedite the process. In our experience, delays 
in schedule frequently come from additional time needed for the community to review and comment on 
new regulations.  While we will build this time into the schedule, we will also maintain flexibility to adjust as 
needed upon agreement from the City.  

- Page 91 -Item #7.



Scoping  + Work Session with City Staff
During our initial meeting with the City of Tybee, 
we will review the scope in detail and review key 
issues, concerns, and priorities the City has already 
identified. During this meeting, we will also review 
project schedule, key meeting dates, and establish a 
schedule for regular meetings with the City.

Review of Existing Plans + Initiatives
Our team understands the role that the land 
development code has in the implementation 
of existing plans, including the comprehensive 
plan and island carrying capacity study. Our team 
member GMC is already very familiar with both, 
given their involvement in each of these 
plans. Our additional team members will also 
review both plans and then we will prepare 
a summary of key takeaways and relevant 
issues we need to be mindful of throughout 
the land development code update. Given the 
similarities in the goals for each, we anticipate 
these goals will remain the focus for the LDC 
update as well.

Land Development Code Review
Our team will conduct an overall review of 
the Land Development Code (LDC) initially to 
understand and assess the overall structure 
and content. During this review, our focus will 
be on identifying potential conflicts within 
the ordinance, conflicts with state/federal 
code, as well as identifying opportunities to 
explore best practices.

Inventory of Non-Conforming Lots 
in R-Districts
Concurrent with the initial review and 
assessment of the LDC, we will conduct 
the inventory of non-conforming uses in R 
districts. All lots identified in this inventory 
will be mapped in GIS and we will develop a 

database to track what the current non-conforming 
use is on each lot. This information will help inform 
if and how we may want to make changes in uses in 
each of the R districts. During this step, we will also 
conduct an analysis of lots that are non-conforming 
in size.

Findings Memorandum
Our key team leaders will meet internally to review 
findings, identify any ‘red flag’ issues, and review 
potential best practices to integrate into ordinance 
revisions. We will then meet with Tybee Island staff 
to review initial assessment and identify any major 
policy-related issues that may need to be brought 
forward to City Council.

Phase I :   PREPARING TO LAUNCH, the assessment 
phase  

This is the “getting to know you better” phase, where the Symbioscity Team will focus on getting familiar 
with the existing plans, initiatives, and current Land Development Code for Tybee Island.

- Page 92 -Item #7.



City Council Workshop 
The City Council workshop will focus on high-level 
policy changes to be considered as part of the 
LDC update. Symbioscity will develop the agenda, 
presentation, and appropriate collateral materials, 
to be reviewed and approved by staff in advance of 
the workshop. At the conclusion of the workshop, 
our team will prepare a memorandum for the City 
documenting the recommended policy positions 
and outcome of the workshop.

Citizen Advisory Committee Kick-Off
Following the City Council workshop, we will 
host the initial kick-off meeting with the Citizen 
Advisory Committee. The goals of this workshop 
will be to share high-level findings and over-arching 
recommendation as presented to City Council. 

The City may also want to consider including the 
Planning Commission in this initial meeting as well. 
Although the Planning Commission will not be 
involved in the minutia of the ordinance changes, 
they will be asked to provide a recommendation on 
the ordinance updates to City Council at the end of 
the process, so early engagement may be helpful in 
providing a foundation for what they can expect to 
see at the conclusion of the process.    

Town Hall Meeting
Depending on the recommended policy changes 
under consideration, it may be advisable to hold 
our first Town Hall meeting at this point. If needed, 
the goal of this meeting will be to share what 
we’ve learned about the alignment of the LDC 
with the City’s Master Plan.  This will also provide 
an opportunity to educate the community on the 
various approaches that can be used to implement 
the goals for Tybee Island.

Phase II :   CONFIRM THE DIRECTION, the consensus 
phase
The Land Development Code is a tool that directly relates to 4 of the 5 goals of Tybee’s Master Plan - 
development patterns, community preservation, sustainability, and community. Prior to diving into 
detailed changes, it is important to make sure the proposed LDC modifications will align with city policy.

- Page 93 -Item #7.



Our team will work collaboratively throughout the Land Development Code review, with Key 
Team Leaders taking the lead on various sections of the code as shown below, assisted by 
additional team members as needed.

Phase IIII:  CODE UPDATES, the churning phase

Moving from policy to code, the update of the regulations will be a continual feedback loop of draft, 
review, revise, repeat.  We will work in constant communication with the City staff as well as the Citizen 
Advisory Committee. 

Once we have established our general direction 
in Phase Two, we will begin the detailed review 
of the LDC. Key team members will each take the 
lead on various sections of the LDC for review. All 
recommended edits will be tracked and documented 
for review with Tybee Island. The Symbioscity Team 
will conduct the required review of the LDC as stated 
in the RFP. Based on the information in the RFP and 
shared at the pre-proposal meeting, we anticipate 
more in-depth review and potential edits in the 
areas shown below. This table also demonstrates 
our proposed structure and team assignments for 
conducting the in-depth review and development 
of recommendations.

We will hold regularly scheduled meetings with 
the City of Tybee Island to walk through the 
recommended edits. As we proceed through this 

detailed process, meetings will be scheduled with 
the citizen committee to review recommendations 
and provide feedback. Meetings with the Citizen 
Advisory Committee (CAC) will focus on the content 
of changes, rather than the line-by-line detail 
changes. Up to four (4) meetings with the CAC are 
anticipated in this phase. 

Once the full review of the LDC is complete, we will 
host a community open house to review proposed 
changes to the ordinance. If major changes are 
proposed, we may recommend moving the 
community open house earlier in the process. After 
all, we know Tybee has an active citizenry!

At the conclusion of Phase Two, the Symbioscity 
team will prepare a comprehensive draft of all 
revisions, including an executive summary or cover 
memo to highlight significant changes.

Symbioscity GMC Kimley-Horn

Facilitation + Engagement

Adherance to State & Federal Law

Best Practices 

Inventory of Non-Conforming Lots

Trees + Landscape

Parking

Home Occupations

Uses by RIght/Special Review

Signs

Overall Content + Approach

- Page 94 -Item #7.



Schedule

whether revision of the regulations, response to the 
comments, or some combination of both.

Update of the land development regulations will be 
a team effort with the City of Tybee Island and will 
require frequent communication.  The Symbioscity 
Team will be your partner – we will not work in 
a vacuum without the City’s valuable feedback 
and contributions. At the end of the day, these 
regulations belong to you. We just hope to make the 
journey a bit easier along the way.

Once the updated regulations have been fully 
vetted by the City and through the public process, 
the Symbioscity Team will shepherd this new code 
through the approval process. We will participate 
in both the Planning Commission and City Council 
adoption hearings and include providing a 
PowerPoint presentation at each of these meetings 
as a part of our scope of services. 

 The Symbioscity Team will gather all comments and 
questions and discuss the appropriate response, 

Phase IV:  ADOPTION, the implementation phase

Phase I:  Assessment

Phase II: Consensus
Council Workshop
Community Meeting* (1 - 2)

Phase III: Code Updates
Community Meetings* (4 - 5)

Phase IV: Adoption
Planning Commission
City Council Workshop
Public Hearing/Adoption

* Citizen Advisory Commitee or 
community meetings (6 total)

MONTHS

1 2 3 4 5 6

- Page 95 -Item #7.



- Page 96 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

8. Third Amendment Fort and Van Horne Water Tower Temporary for Verizon Mobile

- Page 97 -Item #8.



SITE NAME: Relo-Macro    

LOCATION CODE: 630937  

 

  

THIRD AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT 

This Third Amendment to Agreement is being made this    day of 

 __________, _____ between City of Tybee Island, Georgia, with an address of 403 Butler 

Ave., Tybee Island, GA 31328 hereinafter called "LICENSOR," and Cellco Partnership d/b/a 

Verizon Wireless, with a principal mailing address of One Verizon Way, Mail Stop 4AW100, 

Basking Ridge, New Jersey 07920, hereinafter called "LICENSEE." 

WHEREAS, LICENSOR and LICENSEE entered into that certain Agreement dated 

August 27, 2020, as amended, (the "Agreement") whereby LICENSOR licensed to LICENSEE a 

portion of the Property  located at  corner of Van Horne & Old Fort Road, Tybee Island, GA 

31328 (“Premises”), as more particularly described on Exhibit A attached to the Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, LICENSOR and LICENSEE have agreed to extend the Term of the 

Agreement as more particularly set forth herein. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the Premises and intending to be legally bound 

hereby, LICENSOR and LICENSEE agree to the following changes and modifications to the 

Agreement. 

 1. Section 2 of the Agreement is hereby amended to reflect that, beginning on August 

28, 2023, the Agreement shall be extended for 1 additional term of 6 months (“Initial Renewal 

Term”). Upon expiration of the Initial Renewal Term, LICENSEE shall have the right to extend 

this Agreement for 1 additional term of 6 months (“Additional Renewal Term”). Unless 

LICENSEE notifies LICENSOR of its intention not to exercise its option to renew the Agreement 

for the Additional Renewal Term, the Additional Renewal Term shall automatically be exercised 

without notice or any other action of any kind by LICENSEE.  

    

2. Except as specifically modified by this Amendment, all of the terms and 

conditions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. In the event of a conflict 

between any term and provision of the Agreement and this Amendment, the terms and provisions 

of this Amendment shall control. In addition, except as otherwise stated in this Amendment, all 

initially capitalized terms will have the same respective defined meaning stated in the 

Agreement. All captions are for reference purposes only and shall not be used in the construction 

or interpretation of this Amendment. 

3. At the conclusion of the project involving repairs to the city water tank, Verizon 

will promptly return its equipment to the water tank and remove its equipment from the space 

identified in the Agreement dated August 27, 2020, as amended. The city (Licensor) may give 

notice of termination of the Agreement upon 60 days written notice to License following 

completion of the project and License will remove all of its equipment and improvements and 

restore the Property to its original condition, normal wear and tear accepted. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW] 

- Page 98 -Item #8.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have set their hands and affixed their 

respective seals the day and year first above written. 

       LICENSOR: 

City of Tybee Island, Georgia 

 

       By:       

       Name: ______________________________   

       Title: _______________________________   

       Date:_______________________________ 

 

 

 

       LICENSEE: 

Cellco Partnership  

d/b/a Verizon Wireless 

 

 

       By:    ______                 

       Name:  ________________________ 

       Title: __________________________ 

       Date:      
 

 

- Page 99 -Item #8.



File Attachments for Item:

10. First and Second Reading:  2023-26  Sec 2-36 Compensation Change, Mayor and Council

- Page 100 -Item #10.



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-26 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

AS TO SECTION 2-36 

SO AS TO CHANGE THE COMPENSATION OF THE  

MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL, TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE, 

TO REPEAL CONFLICTING ORDINANCES AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES  

FOR THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, is 

authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the Constitution of the State of Georgia to 

adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and improve the public health, safety, and welfare of the 

citizens of Tybee Island, Georgia, and 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, Georgia, is 

the Mayor and Council thereof, and 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under it police, zoning, 

and home rule powers, and 

 WHEREAS, the City is authorized to set the compensation of its elected officials in the 

manner established by state law, O.C.G.A. § 36-35-4; and 

 WHEREAS, the City has properly published the required notice of its intention to set the 

compensation of elected officials; and 

 WHEREAS, an existing ordinance, Section 2-36 needs to be amended so as to reflect the 

change; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, it is ordained by the governing authority of the City of Tybee Island 

that the code of ordinances, Section 2-36, shall be amended. 

SECTION 1 

 

 Section 2-36 will be amended as hereinafter shown with the increase in compensation to 

commence with the term of its elected officials beginning service as of January 1, 2024 and will 

read as follows: 

Sec. 2-36. Compensation of mayor and councilmembers. 

The mayor shall receive as compensation $1,000.00 per month. Councilmembers shall 

receive as compensation $700.00 per month. This compensation is intended to defray expenses 

incurred. This provision shall have application to the mayor and councilmembers assuming office 

in January 2024 and thereafter, subject to future amendments.  

  

- Page 101 -Item #10.



SECTION 2 

The sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this ordinance are severable 

and, if any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph, or section of this ordinance shall be declared illegal 

or invalid by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such illegality 

shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this 

ordinance. 

SECTION 3 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly repealed. 

SECTION 4 

It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the provisions of 

this ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances, City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may be renumbered if necessary to accomplish such 

intention.   

SECTION 5 

 

This Ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council 

pursuant to the ordinances of the City.   

 

ADOPTED THIS       DAY OF                                                 , 2023. 

 

______________________________ 

MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

 

                                                         

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

FIRST READING: ______ 

SECOND READING: ______ 

ENACTED:     
 

 

EMH/Tybee/Ordinances/2023/Sec 2-36 Compensation 7-5-2023EMH 

- Page 102 -Item #10.



File Attachments for Item:

11. Tracy O'Connell:  Thomas Harmon, 43 Van Horne Avenue, STR Permit

- Page 103 -Item #11.



- Page 104 -Item #11.



- Page 105 -Item #11.



- Page 106 -Item #11.



- Page 107 -Item #11.



- Page 108 -Item #11.



- Page 109 -Item #11.



- Page 110 -Item #11.



- Page 111 -Item #11.



- Page 112 -Item #11.



- Page 113 -Item #11.



- Page 114 -Item #11.



- Page 115 -Item #11.



- Page 116 -Item #11.



- Page 117 -Item #11.



- Page 118 -Item #11.



- Page 119 -Item #11.



- Page 120 -Item #11.



- Page 121 -Item #11.



- Page 122 -Item #11.



- Page 123 -Item #11.



- Page 124 -Item #11.



- Page 125 -Item #11.



File Attachments for Item:

12. Tracy O'Connell:  Joel Fobes Settlement

- Page 126 -Item #12.



- Page 127 -Item #12.



- Page 128 -Item #12.



- Page 129 -Item #12.



- Page 130 -Item #12.



- Page 131 -Item #12.



- Page 132 -Item #12.



File Attachments for Item:

13. William Moseley Settlement

- Page 133 -Item #13.



- Page 134 -Item #13.



- Page 135 -Item #13.



- Page 136 -Item #13.



- Page 137 -Item #13.



- Page 138 -Item #13.



- Page 139 -Item #13.



- Page 140 -Item #13.



- Page 141 -Item #13.



File Attachments for Item:

20. Planning Commission Minutes, July 17, 2023

- Page 142 -Item #20.



 

 

  

 
PLANNING COMMISSION                                             CITY MANAGER  
Julie A. Livingston                                        Shawn Gillen 
Robert J. Matkowski 
Elaine McGruder 
S. Michelle Nooney                                                                                                            COMMUNITY DEVELOPMEN DIRECTOR 
Whitley Reynolds              George Shaw  
Marie Rodriguez          
Anthony Turpin                                         CITY ATTORNEY    CITY ATTORNEY   

                                         Edward M. Hughes
                                                                                                                      

 
Planning Commission Meeting 

MINUTES 
July 17, 2023 

 
Chair Whitley Reynolds called the July 17, 2023, Tybee Island Planning Commission meeting to 
order. Commissioners present were Marie Rodriguez, Elaine McGruder, Julie Livingston, 
Robert Matkowski, Anthony Turpin and Michelle Nooney. 
Consideration of Minutes: 
Chair Whitley Reynolds asked for consideration of the May 15, 2023, meeting minutes. Julie 
Livingston made a motion to approve. Elaine McGruder seconded. The vote to approve was 
unanimous. 
Disclosures/Recusals: 
Chair Whitley Reynolds asked if there were any Disclosures or Recusals. There were none. 
Old Business: 
Chair Whitley Reynolds asked if there was any old business. There was none. 
 
New Business: 
SITE PLAN: requesting office for A-Step Above construction, LLC -103 Butler Ave.-
40004 02004 -Zone C-2 -Tony Lord. 
George Shaw stated the applicant would like to remodel the building on site for a new office and add 
a new storage, warehouse building. He also stated that the property is in the C-2 zone so this use is 
fine. The back half of the lot is split with the inland cottage character area. So as you’re looking at the 
site plan the one thing you can consider is whether the development is of a scale and mass to be 
compatible and consistent with the character area. Staff recommends approval. Bob Matkowski 
asked about the status of the drainage. George Shaw stated our engineer, and the applicants 
engineer have a verbal agreement the concept is going to work. Bob Matkowski asked how 
pedestrian movement is going to be enhanced. George Shaw stated it’s not hindering any pedestrian 
movement the sidewalk will stay. Mark Boswell, 103 Nassau Drive approached the planning 
commission and stated he will be the engineer of record and will answer any questions. He stated the 
building does not have to be thirty feet, the owner is willing to do fifteen or twenty. Tony Lord, 161 
Ropemaker Lane approached the Planning Commission and stated we are in the best interest of Tybee 
and would welcome any recommendations. Anthony Turpin asked if he had experience with Allen’s 
factory. Tony Lord stated he has three contenders for the building, and this is just a proposal 
templet for what he wants the building to look like. Elaine asked if fifteen- or twenty-foot height 
would be ok with him. Tony Lord stated we would certainly be willing to bring it down, maybe 
fourteen to fifteen feet would be a fair number. Julie Livingston asked if he foresees any traffic 
problems coming in and out of Butler Avenue. Tony Lord stated he does not see any traffic 
problems; his fleet consists of normal size trucks and there will be only one way in and one way out. 
Anthony Turpin asked Mark Boswell if he has taken into the account with the drainage plan. Mark 
Boswell stated yes it has. Bob Matkowski made a motion to continue until the drainage report is 
received. Anthony Turpin seconded.   
 
 

 

- Page 143 -Item #20.



 

 

 
 
Voting in favor were Bob Matkowski and Anthony Turpin. Voting against were Marie 
Rodriguez, Michelle Nooney, Julie Livingston and Elaine McGruder. Motion to continue 
failed 2-4.  
Elaine McGruder made a motion to approve with a condition that the storage building be no higher 
than fifteen feet. Michelle Nooney seconded. Voting in favor were Michelle Nooney, Elaine 
McGruder and Anthony Turpin. Voting against were Marie Rodriguez, Julie Livingston and 
Bob Matkowski. Motion was tied 3-3. Chair Whitley Reynolds voted in favor. Motion to approve 
passed 4-3. 
 
VARIANCE: requesting build fence two feet higher than eight foot allowance -1514 
Lovell Ave.-40008 07001 -Zone C-1 -Judy & Andy Hughes. 
George Shaw stated the applicants purchased a house that backs up to Nicki’s 1979. They are asking 
for a taller fence than eight feet which is what our ordinance allows. Staff recommends approval. 
Julie Livingston asked if there are any fences on this Island as high as ten or twelve feet 
Commercial or residential. George Shaw stated he does not know of any. Michelle Nooney asked 
if we approve of this could the design be a part of it. George Shaw stated yes, you can always make a 
suggestion. Anthony Turpin stated since there is a fence on the south side of the property that could 
be used as a guide for the height of this fence. Bob Matkowski stated yes that would be a good 
guide, so it does not exceed the fence on either side. Andy Hughes, 502 Jackson Blvd. stated we had 
numerous issues like cigarette butts and other items being tossed over the fence. We approached the 
owner of Nicki’s about this and he was difficult to deal with. He put a screen on the top of the fence 
which stopped items coming over the fence. Then we looked into getting a copy of our plat and 
realized we owned six point nine feet of his back deck. We had a Lawyer send him a letter to remove 
his items from our property, which was two sheds and part of his deck. Now we want to put the new 
fence on our property line and want to do some sound proofing and more height to take care of any 
problems. Julie Livingston stated she does not see a hardship in this, but she does see an 
inconvenience. She also asked isn’t it the property only not the surrounding area that constitutes the 
hardship. George Shaw stated he considered the hardship is the bar they have behind them and that 
is only specific to this property. Julie Livingston stated she is picturing this becoming an issue 
throughout the island. Elaine McGruder made a motion to approve with a condition that the fence 
be two feet higher than the eight-foot allowance. Anthony Turpin seconded. Voting in favor were 
Elaine McGruder and Anthony Turpin. Voting against were Marie Rodriguez, Michelle 
Nooney, Julie Livingston and Bob Matkowski. Motion to approve failed 2-4. Anthony Turpin 
made a motion to approve with a condition that the height of the fence to align with the fence on the 
southern side of property. Elaine McGruder seconded. Voting in favor were Elaine McGruder, 
Bob Matkowski and Anthony Turpin. Voting against were Marie Rodriguez, Michelle 
Nooney and Julie Livingston. Motion tied 3-3. Chair Whitley Reynolds voted in favor. Motion 
to approve passed 4-3. George Shaw went to measure the fence on the southern side and it was at 
ten feet. 
 
 
 
Adjournment: 7:30pm 
Lisa L. Schaaf 

- Page 144 -Item #20.


	Top
	Item #1.	Certificate of Appreciation:  Mark Williams:  Department of Natural Resources
	Item #2.	Minutes:  City Council Meeting, July 13, 2023
	20230713Minutes

	Item #3.	Shirley Wright, Forever Tybee:  Community Events
	Item #4.	Site Plan Approval:  Requesting site plan approval to operate a business located at 103 Butler Avenue, Zone C2
	1. 103 BUTLER AVE

	Item #5.	Zoning Variance, 1514 Lovell Avenue, 40008-07001, to build a fence two to four feet above the eight-foot limit and extend the rear deck to the new fence line, Zone C-1
	2. 1514 LOVELL AVE

	Item #6.	Skidaway Institute Dune Monitoring Agreement
	Skidaway Institute Dune Monitoring Research Agreement 8-10-2023 Alexander TCO 7.12.23 (4864-6829-6304.1) PE

	Item #7.	Symbioscity:  Consulting Services Agreement
	CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT_Symbioscity_2023_07_27

	Item #8.	Third Amendment Fort and Van Horne Water Tower Temporary for Verizon Mobile
	Tybee Island COW 2022 Draft 2.BR

	Item #9.	Out-of-State Travel San Diego:  Tiffany Hayes, International Association of Chiefs of Police Conference, October 13 - 18, 2023.  Line Item 100-3210-52-3500, $1,760.00
	Item #10.	First and Second Reading:  2023-26  Sec 2-36 Compensation Change, Mayor and Council
	Sec 2-36 Compensation 7-5-2023 EMH

	Item #11.	Tracy O'Connell:  Thomas Harmon, 43 Van Horne Avenue, STR Permit
	[Untitled]

	Item #14.	Barry Brown:  Update on Water Bill Credits
	Item #15.	Jay Burke:  Hotel Water Rate Review
	Item #16.	Monty Parks:  Forming a working group to explore child care on Tybee Island
	Item #17.	Brian West:  Additional lighting for Jaycee Park
	Item #19.	Michelle Owens:  Emergency Medical Service Update
	Item #20.	Planning Commission Minutes, July 17, 2023
	3. 20230717_PC_MINUTES

	Bottom

